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Narrative Report  
 
 
1 Introduction  
 
1.1 This document presents the statutory financial statements for Birmingham City 

Council (the Council) for the period from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017.  The financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2016/17 Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting (The Code) published by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). 

 
1.2 �7�K�L�V���Q�D�U�U�D�W�L�Y�H���U�H�S�R�U�W���S�U�R�Y�L�G�H�V���D���V�X�P�P�D�U�\���R�I���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���S�R�V�L�W�L�R�Q���D�Q�G��

details of material items that have impacted on the accounts during the year.   
 
1.3 The financial statements contain a number of technical accounting terms and 

concepts.  A glossary of the major accounting terms has been provided at the end of 
�W�K�H���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V���W�R���K�H�O�S���W�K�H���U�H�D�G�H�U�¶�V���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�D�Q�G�L�Q�J�� 
 
 

2 Council Priorities  
 

2.1 �7�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���Y�L�V�L�R�Q���I�R�U���W�K�H���&�L�W�\���L�V���R�Q�H���R�I�� 
 
�µ�$���F�L�W�\���R�I���J�U�R�Z�W�K���Z�K�H�U�H���H�Y�H�U�\���F�K�L�O�G�����F�L�W�L�]�H�Q���D�Q�G���S�O�D�F�H���P�D�W�W�H�U�V�¶ 
 
and sets out clear priorities for the Council: 
 

�x Children - a great place to grow up in:  
Make the best of our diversity and create a safe and secure city for our children 
and young people to learn and grow 
 

�x Housing �± a great place to live in:  
Provide housing in a range of types and tenures to meet the housing needs of 
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3.2 The Birmingham Independent Improvement Panel (BIIP), appointed following the 
publication of the report on the governance and organisational capabilities of the 
Council by Lord Kerslake, has provided a number of progress reports to the Secretary 
of State.  The BIIP reported to the Secretary of State in November 2016 on the 
progress the Council has made in those areas that required improvement and has 
supported the broad direction of travel.  However, it was acknowledged that some of 
the crucial developments were at an early stage of design, implementation and 
adoption and that the changes had not yet filtered through to front-line staff or 
partners. 
 

3.3 The BIIP had previously commented that the four-year financial strategy adopted for 
the 2016/17 - 2019/20 period was extremely challenging and that the transformational 
nature of the key proposals would be a serious test for the Council to deliver.   The 
Council has been unable to deliver all of the savings planned for 2016/17, which has 
led to an overspend on the budget.   
 

3.4 An independent financial review was commissioned jointly by the Council and the 
BIIP to assess whether the budget proposals for 2017/18 were realistic.  The 
�L�Q�G�H�S�H�Q�G�H�Q�W���U�H�Y�L�H�Z���L�G�H�Q�W�L�I�L�H�G���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�U�H���Z�H�U�H���D���Q�X�P�E�H�U���R�I���D�U�H�D�V���Z�K�H�U�H���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V��
plans were ambitious and recommended that the Council prepare a contingency 
savings plan and a consistent set of delivery plans with clear accountabilities.  
Following a further visit in January 2017, the independent review team concluded that 
the Council had taken the recommendations on board and responded well, although 
not all recommendations had been fully implemented at the time of the report. 
 

3.5 The BIIP provided a further report to the Secretary of State in February 2017 that 
concluded the Council had put in place more robust and credible financial plans.  
However, the report stated that the plans and strategies would not be easy to 
implement and that some of the implementation timetables were extremely ambitious 
and that the risks to achieving fully effective delivery were high. 
 
 

4 Major Developments  
 
4.1 Despite the financial pressures faced by the Council, it has continued to develop 
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The Main Financial Statements 
 

5.2 The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) �± provides the 
accounting cost in year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation or from rents 
for Council dwellings.  The Council raises taxation to cover expenditure in accordance 
with regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost.   
 
The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) position is shown in a separate statement 
within these accounts. 

 
The 2016/17 CIES shows a reduction of £124.3m, from £918.9m to £794.6m, in the 
net cost of services compared to 2015/16, which is primarily as a result of: 
 

�x A one-off payment in 2015/16 of £72.9m to Network Rail in respect of its 
share of the receipt from the disposal of its head lease interest in the Grand 
Central development; 

�x A one-off charge of £66.3m in 2015/16 to the CIES to reflect the impairment of 
the investment in NEC (Developments) Limited to reflect the realisable value 
of the company; 

�x The continued reduction in net expenditure on services due to the tightening 
of public expenditure; 

�x The impact of local authority maintained schools converting to academies. 
 
offset by increases in 

�x Depreciation and impairment charges to the HRA - £9m 
�x Payments to third parties for the provision of care - £23m 
�x Public health payments - £12m  

 
Supporting the CIES is the Expenditure and Funding Analysis (EFA), which shows 
�W�K�H���E�D�V�L�V���R�I���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���D�Q�Q�X�D�O���H�[penditure and how it is funded from resources 
compared to how the resources are consumed and earned in line with generally 
accepted accounting practices.  The EFA also shows how expenditure is allocated by 
the Council between Directorates.   

 
5.3 Movement in Reserves Statement (MiRS) �± provides a reconciliation of the 

movement in year on the different reserves of the Council.  The MiRS shows how the 
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Associates 
Birmingham Airport Holdings Limited 
Service Birmingham Limited 
 
Joint Venture 
Paradise Circus General Partner Limited 
 
  

5.10 In February 2017 a process commenced to explore a potential sale of the business 
and assets of Innovation Birmingham Limited to a strategic purchaser. The intention 
is to seek a new investor to continue with the strategic development of Innovation 
Birmingham Limited and the Innovation Birmingham Campus. The Innovation 
Birmingham Campus masterplan identifies a further 90,000 sq ft of proposed 
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7.4.2 During the financial year ended 31 March 2017, the Council took £40.0m of long term 
loans.  The Council also maintained a significant short term loan debt portfolio during 
the year, taking advantage of historically low short term interest rates.  Total debt 
�U�H�P�D�L�Q�H�G���Z�L�W�K�L�Q���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���D�X�W�K�R�U�L�V�H�G���O�L�P�L�W������ 

 
7.4.3 �)�X�U�W�K�H�U���G�H�W�D�L�O�V���R�I���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���O�L�D�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V���D�U�H���J�L�Y�H�Q���L�Q���1�R�W�H�V���������D�Q�G���������W�R��

these financial statements.  Full details regarding the financing of capital expenditure 
and the acquisition and disposal of non-current assets are given in Notes 22 to 25 to 
these financial statements. 
 

7.5 Service Concession Arrangements and Similar Contracts 
 
7.5.1 The Council has entered into a number of Service Concession arrangements, 

formerly classed as Private Finance Initiatives and similar contracts across Schools, 
Waste Management and Highways services to deliver improvements in infrastructure 
and future service delivery.  As a result of the schemes, the Council has a future 
liability to the end of the contracts of £439.9m as at 31 March 2017.  

 
7.5.2 Details of the arrangements and timings of future liabilities are set out in Note 43 to 

these financial statements.   
 
7.6 Pension Liabilities 
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Business Rates 
 

7.7.2 As a result of the change introduced through the Local Government Finance Act 
2012, local authorities assumed part of the liability for funding rate payers who 
successfully appeal against the rateable value of their properties on the rating list.  
This liability includes amounts that were collected in respect of both the current and 
prior years. 
 

7.7.3 The Council, as Billing Authority, is required to make a provision for this liability. The 
�I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V���L�Q�F�O�X�G�H���D���S�U�R�Y�L�V�L�R�Q���W�R���F�R�Y�H�U���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���V�K�D�U�H���R�I���W�K�H���H�V�W�L�P�D�W�H�G��
liability for the settlement of all appeals received up to 31 March 2017 but which 
remained unsettled.  However, regulations permit local authorities to spread an 
element of the impact over a period of 5 years up to 2017/18. A share of the liability is 
attributable to Central Government and the West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority. 
 
NEC Pension Liability 
 

7.7.4 On the disposal of the NEC Group on 1 May 2015, PETPS (Birmingham) Limited, a 
wholly owned subsidiary of the Council, replaced the National Exhibition Centre 
Limited as principal employer of the defined benefit schemes, which assumed the 
ongoing funding obligations with the agreement of the pension trustees.  At the same 
time, the Council provided guarantees to the Trustees of the Fund and the Scheme to 
meet the current and future funding obligations that may arise in respect of the 
liabilities. 
 

7.8 Reserves 
 
7.8.1 The Council maintains two types of reserves: 

 
�x Usable reserves �± where the Council sets aside specific amounts for future 

policy purposes or to cover contingencies 
�x Unusable reserves, which are not available to support the provision of services 

and include: 
�� Unrealised gains and losses, particularly in relation to changes in valuation 

of non-current assets; 
�� Adjustment accounts that absorb the difference between the outcome of 

applying proper accounting practices and the requirements of statutory 
arrangements for funding expenditure. 

 
7.8.2 Details of the reserves are set out below.   

 
 

 31 March 
2016 

31 March 
2017 

 

 £m £m  
Usable ReservesUsab27.53 20<</MCID 22>> BDC q

394.27 191.45 134.54 1am

[(U)016
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7.8.3 The reduction in the level of usable reserves is mainly as a result of the planned 
reduction in resources set aside: 
 

�x To support �W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���F�D�S�L�W�D�O���S�U�R�J�U�D�P�P�H��
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nationally, although there are opportunities to enhance/expand the arrangement in 
future years if all parties are in favour of this. 
 

8.5 Full details of the 2017/18 Revenue and Capital Budgets can be found within the 
Council Financial Plan 2017+ approved by Council on 28 February 2017, via 
www.birmingham.gov.uk. 
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CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
2016/17  
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Movement in Reserves Statement  
 
This Statement shows the movement in the year in the different reserves held by the 
�&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�����D�Q�D�O�\�V�H�G���L�Q�W�R���µ�X�V�D�E�O�H���U�H�V�H�U�Y�H�V�¶�����W�K�D�W���L�V�����W�K�R�Ve that can be applied to fund 
expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other reserves.   
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£m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Balance at 31 March 2015  485.3 4.5 16.3 15.8 104.1 626.0 (1,854.0) (1,228.0) 
Movement in Reserves during 
2015/16 

     
  

 
  

Surplus/(Deficit) on the provision 
of services (193.4) 59.0 

   
(134.4) 

 
(134.4) 

Other Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 

     
- 519.6 519.6 

Total Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure  (193.4) 59.0 - - - (134.4) 519.6 385.2 

Adjustments between accounting 
basis and funding basis under 
regulations (Note 16) 208.3 (58.9) 295.8 (10.0) (31.1) 404.1 (404.1) - 

Increase/Decrease in 2015/16  14.9 0.1 295.8 (10.0) (31.1) 269.7 115.5 385.2 

Balance at 31 March 2016  500.2 4.6 312.1 5.8 73.0 895.7 (1,738.5) (842.8) 

Movement in Reserves during 
2016/17 

     
  

 
  

Surplus/(Deficit) on the provision 
of services (158.0) 41.9 

   
(116.1) 

 
(116.1) 

Other Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 

     
- (102.6) (102.6) 

Total Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure  (158.0) 41.9 - - - (116.1) (102.6) (218.7) 

Adjustments between accounting 
basis and funding basis under 
regulations (Note 16) 70.7 (41.9) (33.7) 33.2 22.2 50.5 (50.5) - 

Increase/Decrease in 2016/17  (87.3) - (33.7) 33.2 22.2 (65.6) (153.1) (218.7) 

Balance at 31 March 2017  412.9 

41
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Balance Sheet  
 
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the Council.   
 
 

31 March 2016 
 

Note 31 March 2017 
£m 

  
£m 

4,855.3 Property, Plant and Equipment  22 5,348.2 
249.8 Heritage Assets 23 251.5 

10.0 Investment Property 
 

9.8 
25.6 Intangible Assets 24 19.7 
32.2 Long Term Investments 25 33.5 
75.0 Long Term Debtors 26 92.9 

5,247.9 
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Cash Flow Statement   
 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Council 
during the reporting period.  
 
 
 

2015/16 
 

Note 2016/17 
£m 

  
£m 

(134.4) Net Surplus/(Deficit) on the provision of services 
 

(116.1) 

460.2 Adjustments to net Surplus/Deficit on the provision of 
services for non cash movements 

38 376.8 

(478.3) 
Adjustments for items included in the net Surplus/(Deficit) 
on the provision of services that are investing and financing 
activities 

38 (230.2) 

(152.5) Net cash flows from Operating Activities   30.5 
254.1 Investing Activities 
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Note 1 
Accounting Policies  
 
i. General Principles  
 
�7�K�H���6�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W���R�I���$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V���V�X�P�P�D�U�L�V�H�V���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���W�U�D�Q�V�D�F�W�L�R�Q�V���I�R�U���W�K�H�������������������I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O��
year and its position at the year-



Birmingham City Council                                                Draft Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2017 
 
 

21 
 

This is intended to improve the efficiency of the final accounts process in order that earlier 
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Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions 
require the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account balances to be charged with the 
amount payable by the Council to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount 
calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. 
 
In the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from the 
Pension Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement 
termination benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and 
pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end. 
 
Post-Employment Benefits 
 
Employees of the Council are members of one of three separate pension schemes: 
 

�x The Local Government Pension Scheme, administered by the West Midlands 
Pension Fund offices at Wolverhampton City Council; 

�x �7�K�H���7�H�D�F�K�H�U�V�¶���3�H�Q�V�L�R�Q���6�F�K�H�P�H���D�G�P�L�Q�L�V�W�H�U�H�G���E�\���&�D�S�L�W�D���7�H�D�F�K�H�U�V�¶���3�H�Q�V�L�R�Q�V���R�Q��
behalf of the Department for Education; 

�x The NHS Pensions Scheme, administered by NHS Pensions. 
 
Each scheme provides defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), 
earned during employment with the Council. 
 
�7�K�H���D�U�U�D�Q�J�H�P�H�Q�W�V���I�R�U���W�K�H���7�H�D�F�K�H�U�V�¶���3�H�Q�V�L�R�Q���6�F�K�H�Pe and the NHS Pensions Scheme mean 
liabilities for these benefits cannot ordinarily be identified specifically to the Council. These 
schemes are, therefore, accounted for as if they were defined contribution schemes and no 
liability for future payments of benefits is recognised in the Balance Sheet. Within the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the People Directorate line is charged 
�Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���H�P�S�O�R�\�H�U�¶�V���F�R�Q�W�U�L�E�X�W�L�R�Q�V���S�D�\�D�E�O�H���W�R���W�K�H���7�H�D�F�K�H�U�V�¶���3�H�Q�V�L�R�Q���6�F�K�H�P�H���D�Q�G���1�+�6��
Pensions Scheme in the year. 
 
The Local Government Pension Scheme 
 
The Local Government Pension Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme: 
 

�x The liabilities of the West Midlands Local Government Pension Fund attributable to 
the Council are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the 
projected unit method �± that is, an assessment of the future payments that will be 
made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on 
assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc., and projections of 
earnings for current employees; 

�x Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate of 
2.7% based on the indicative rate of return on AA rated corporate bond yields; 

�x The assets of the West Midlands Local Government Pension Fund attributable to the 
Council are included in the Balance Sheet at their fair value: 

o quoted securities �± current bid price; 
o unquoted securities �± professional estimate; 
o unitised securities �± current bid price; 
o property �± market value. 

 
�x The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following elements: 
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Service cost comprising: 

o current service cost �± the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service 
earned this year �± allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement to the Directorates for which the employees worked; 

o past service cost �± 
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vii. Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute  
 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but 
which does not result in the creation of a non-current asset, has been charged as 
expenditure to the relevant Directorate in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement in the year. Where the Council has determined to meet the cost of this 
expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer through the 
Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment 
Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no impact on the level of 
Council Tax. 
 
 
viii. Charges to Revenue for Non -Current Assets  
 
Directorates and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to record the cost 
of holding non-current assets during the year: 
 

�x Depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service; 
�x Revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no 

accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be 
written off; 

�x Amortisation of intangible non-current assets attributable to the service. 
 
The Council is not required to raise Council Tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and 
impairment losses or amortisation. However, it is required to make an annual contribution 
from revenue towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement equal to an amount 
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Since 1 April 2010 all additions and all material assets revalued (over £5m) are accounted 
for on a component basis. As components are added, any component being replaced is 
derecognised. On derecognising components where the component is within a non 
separated component bundle, the depreciation is apportioned on a straight line basis and 
derecognised accordingly.  In addition, where the historical cost of the old component is not 
readily determinable, it has been estimated by comparing the remaining useful economic life 
of the component to the original useful economic life and the cost of the replacement 
component.  A pro rata of both the depreciation and any applicable Revaluation Reserve is 
also derecognised.  
 
Donated assets are measured initially at fair value. The difference between fair value and 
any consideration paid is credited to the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income line of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, unless the donation has been made 
conditionally. Until conditions are satisfied, the gain is held in the Donated Assets Account. 
Where gains are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they 
are reversed out of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. The Council has not reviewed the deeds of all of its land 
and property to determine the categorisation of these assets. 
 
Assets are subsequently carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement 
bases: 
 

�x infrastructure assets, vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment �± 
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therefore, carried at amortised cost. The depreciable amount of an intangible asset is 
amortised on a straight line basis over its useful life to the relevant Directorate in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. An asset is tested for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the asset might be impaired �± any losses recognised are 
posted to the relevant Directorate in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or abandonment of an intangible asset is posted to 
Other Operating Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Where expenditure on intangible assets qualifies as capital expenditure for statutory 
purposes, amortisation, impairment losses and disposal gains and losses are not permitted 
to have an impact on the General Fund balance. The gains and losses are therefore 
reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement and 
posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for any sale proceeds greater than £10,000) 
the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 
 
xiv. Investment Properties  
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contracts for no additional charge, the Council carries the assets used under the contracts 
on its Balance Sheet as part of Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 
The original recognition of these assets at fair value (based on the cost to purchase the 
property, plant and equipment) is balanced by the recognition of a liability for amounts due to 
the scheme operator to pay for the capital investment.  The Council includes the cost of 
establishing Special Purpose Vehicles in the calculation of the liabilities. 
 
Non-current assets recognised on the Balance Sheet are revalued and depreciated in the 
same way as property, plant and equipment owned by the Council. 
 
The amounts payable to the contractor each year are analysed into five elements: 
 

�x Fair value of the services procured during the year �± debited to the relevant 
Directorate in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement; 

 
�x Finance cost �± an interest charge on the outstanding Balance Sheet liability, debited 

to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement; 

 
�x Contingent rent �± inflationary increases in the amount to be paid for the property 

arising during the contract, debited to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement; 

 
�x Payment towards liability �± applied to write down the Balance Sheet liability towards 

the contractor; 
 

�x Lifecycle replacement costs �± usually recognised as an addition to Property, Plant 
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The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on disposal is 
not permitted by statute to impact the General Fund Balance and is required to be treated as 
a capital receipt. Where a premium has been received, this is posted out of the General 
Fund Balance to the Capital Receipts Reserve through the Movement in Reserves 
Statement.  Where the amount due in relation to the lease asset is settled by the payment of 
rentals in future financial years, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the 
Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve through the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against Council Tax, as the cost of non-
current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing.  
Amounts are therefore appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General 
Fund Balance through the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
 
Operating Leases 
 
Where the Council grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or 
equipment, the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the Other 
Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
Credits are made on a straight line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not 
match the pattern of payments. Initial direct costs incurred s  leali
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has control over the land through restrictive covenants within site deeds or where there is 
reasonable evidence that restrictive covenants are in place. 
 
Academies and Free Schools are not considered to be controlled by the Council and are not 
consolidated into the entity or group accounts.  
 
 
xix. Financial Instruments  
 
Financial Liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value 
and are carried at their amortised cost. Non-borrowing creditors are carried at contract 
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Financial Assets 
 
Financial assets are classified into two types: 
 

�x Loans and receivables �± assets that have fixed or determinable payments but are not 
quoted in an active market; 

�x Available-for-sale assets �± assets that have a quoted market price and/or do not 
have fixed or determinable payments. 

 
Loans and Receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair 
value. They are subsequently measured at their amortised cost. Annual credits to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset 
multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the loans the 
Council has made, this means the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding 
principal receivable, plus accrued interest, and interest credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable for the year in the loan 
agreement. 
 
However, the Council has made a number of loans to third parties at less than market rates 
(soft loans). When soft loans are made, a loss is recorded in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement, charged to the appropriate Directorate, for the present value of 
the interest that will be foregone over the life of the instrument, resulting in a lowered 
amortised cost than the outstanding principal. Interest is credited to the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement at a marginally higher effective rate of interest than the rate receivable from the 
third parties, with the difference serving to increase the amortised cost of the loan in the 
Balance Sheet. Statutory provisions require the impact of soft loans on the General Fund 
Balance is the interest receivable for the financial year �± the reconciliation of amounts 
debited and credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the net 
gain required against the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to/from the 
Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past event 
that payments due under the contract will not be made, the asset is written down and a 
charge made to the relevant Directorate, for receivables specific to that Directorate, or the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. The impairment loss is measured as the difference between the 
carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the 
�D�V�V�H�W�¶�V���R�U�L�J�L�Q�D�O���H�I�I�H�F�W�L�Y�H���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W���U�D�W�H�� 
 
Any gains/losses that arise on the derecognition of an asset are credited/debited to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 
 
Available-for-Sale Assets 
 
Available-for-Sale assets are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured and 
carried at cost.  Where a fair value of those assets that do not form part of the Group 
Accounts can be determined, the carrying value of the asset is adjusted to the fair value.  
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Where a fair value cannot be measured reliably, the asset is carried at cost less any 
impairment losses.  Where the asset has fixed or determinable payments, annual credits to 
the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are based on the amortised cost of the 
asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument.  Where there are no fixed 
or determinable payments, income is credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement when it becomes receivable by the Council. 
 
Where it is possible to determine a fair value of an asset, they are based on: 
 

�x Instruments with quoted market prices �± the market price; 
�x 
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xx. Cash and Cash Equivalents  
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents are represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial 
institutions, which must be repayable immediately without penalty. Any deposits with 
financial institutions that may be repaid after
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Contingent Liabilities 
 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible 
obligation that will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the Council. Contingent liabilities also arise in 
circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that 
an outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
reliably. 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in Note 33 to the 
accounts. 
 
Contingent Assets 
 
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible 
asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Council. 
 
Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in Note 33 to the 
accounts where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service 
potential. 
 
 
xxii. Reserves  
 
The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover 
contingencies. Reserves are created by transferring amounts out of the General Fund 
Balance. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the 
appropriate Directorate in that year to score against the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of 
Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The reserve is then 
transferred back into the General Fund Balance so that there is no net charge against 
Council Tax for the expenditure. 
 
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, 
financial instruments, local taxation, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent 
usable resources for the Council �± these reserves are explained in the relevant policies. 
 
Contributions from developers, paid under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, are shown on the Balance Sheet as either Grant Reserves or Capital Grants 
Unapplied.  Where these monies are invested externally, the sums invested are shown 
under short term investments. 
 
 
xxiii. Council Tax and Business  Rates 
 
Billing authorities are required by statute to maintain a separate fund (the Collection Fund) 
for the collection and distribution of amounts due in respect of Council Tax and Business 
Rates. The Collection Fund's key features relevant to the accounting for Council Tax and 
Business Rates in the core financial statements are: 
 

�x In its capacity as a Billing Authority the Council acts as an agent, collecting and 
distributing Council Tax on behalf of the major preceptors and as principal for itself; 

 
�x While the Council Tax and Business Rates income for the year credited to the 

Collection Fund is the accrued income for the year, regulations determine when it 
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�V�K�R�X�O�G���E�H���U�H�O�H�D�V�H�G���I�U�R�P���W�K�H���&�R�O�O�H�F�W�L�R�Q���)�X�Q�G���D�Q�G���W�U�D�Q�V�I�H�U�U�H�G���W�R���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���*�H�Q�H�U�D�O��
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Note 2 
Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies  
 
In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1, the Council has had to make certain 
judgements in respect of complex transactions or those transactions involving uncertainty 
about future events.  The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are: 
 
Going Concern 
Local Authorities are required by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
2016/17 to prepare their accounts on the going concern basis, that is that the functions of 
the Council will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future, as it can only be 
discontinued as a result of statutory prescription. 
 
The Council continues to face financial challenges as a result of the ongoing reduction in 
central government support and the need to fund budget pressures, including those arising 
from equal pay claims.  The Council has developed its medium to long term financial 
strategy, detailed in the Council Financial Plan 2017+, and is meeting these budget 
challenges by developing multi-year savings plans and funding investment to deliver these 
through the generation of capital receipts.  The Council has successfully delivered significant 
savings plans previously and has appropriate contingency plans in place to provide 
protection against any timing differences in the generation of capital receipts or any shortfall 
in the delivery of savings plans.  As such the Council has identified that it has general fund 
balances and can redesignate earmarked reserves to meet the shortfall or it can delay the 
timing of its Minimum Revenue Provision contributions and equal pay settlements.  On this 
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�H�[�S�H�Q�G�L�W�X�U�H���E�\���O�R�F�D�O���D�X�W�K�R�U�L�W�\���P�D�L�Q�W�D�L�Q�H�G���V�F�K�R�R�O�V�����Z�K�L�F�K���X�Q�G�H�U���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���S�R�O�L�F�L�H�V���Z�R�X�O�G��
be considered to be capital expenditure.  The Council has, therefore, treated expenditure 
which it can reasonably identify as being capital in nature as capital expenditure financed 
from revenue, which is then depreciated over an average useful economic life.  Where it is 
not clear whether expenditure incurred relates specifically to capital, it has been left in 
revenue expenditure.   
 
Whilst the Council is required to report the transactions of local authority maintained schools 
within its entity financial statements, it has not included details of employees of Voluntary 
Aided and Foundation Trust schools in �1�R�W�H�����������2�I�I�L�F�H�U�V�¶���5�H�P�X�Q�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q���D�V���W�K�H�\���D�U�H��
employed by the relevant governing body.   
 
The table below shows the number and type of schools within Birmingham at 31 March 
2017. 
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The Better Care Fund 
The Better Care Fund was announced in June 2013 with the intention to drive the 
transformation of local services and was to be operated through pooled budget 
arrangements between the Council and local Clinical Commissioning Groups.  Specific 
resources were earmarked for the Better Care Fund by NHS England in its allocation to 
Clinical Commissioning Groups.  The remainder of the fund was made up of the Social Care 
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Note 3  
Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation 
Uncertainty  
 
The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made 
by the Council about the future or that are otherwise uncertain.  Estimates are made taking 
into account historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors.  However, 
because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially 
different from the assumptions and estimates. 
 
The items in the Council's Balance Sheet at 31 March 2017 for which there is a significant 
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Item Uncertainties  Effect if Actual Results Differ from 
Assumptions  

Equal Pay The Council has included a provision of 
£145.2m for the settlement of claims 
for back pay arising from the Equal Pay 
initiative.  The Council has based its 
estimate on the number of claims 
received and on historical information 
on settlement of similar claims and on 
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Note 4 
Events After the Reporting Period  
 
The draft Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Interim Chief Finance 
Officer on 1 June 2017.  Events taking place after this date are not reflected in the financial 
statements or notes.  Where events taking place before this date provided information about 
conditions existing at 31 March 2017, the figures in the financial statements and notes have 
been adjusted in all material respects to reflect the impact of this information. 
 
Transfer of Academy Schools 
 
�$�F�D�G�H�P�\���6�F�K�R�R�O�V���D�U�H���Q�R�W���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�H�G���I�R�U���Z�L�W�K�L�Q���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V�������:�K�H�U�H���D��
school transfers to Academy status, it is deemed to be disposed of within the financial 
statements for nil consideration.  Between 1 April 2017 and 31 May 2017, five schools, with 
assets having a net book value of £32.9m, have transferred to Academy School Trust status.  
A further six schools, with assets having a net book value of £61.7m have announced their 
proposals to transfer to Academy School Trust status. 
 
Transfer of Council Services 
 
�2�Q���������-�D�Q�X�D�U�\���������������W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O���D�S�S�U�R�Y�H�G���W�K�H���F�U�H�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���D���&�K�L�O�G�U�H�Q�¶�V���7�U�X�V�W���W�K�D�W���Z�R�X�O�G��
�G�H�O�L�Y�H�U���&�K�L�O�G�U�H�Q�¶�V���6�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V��  It is intended that the Trust will operate through a wholly owned, 
community interest company with effect from April 2018.  �'�X�U�L�Q�J���������������������&�K�L�O�G�U�H�Q�¶�V��
Services will operate as a Shadow Trust within the Council to ensure a smooth transfer to 
the new model of operation in 2018/19.  Cabinet, in July 2017, will consider the final details 
for the transfer of services to the Trust, including the model of transfer of staff and finalise 
the financial operation of the Trust. 
 
Business Rates Retention 
 
In the Spending Review of November 2015, the Government announced plans for local 
government to retain 100% of Business Rates income to fund local services.  The additional 
funding provided through the retention of Business Rates would be offset by the reduction in 
Revenue Support Grant. 
 
A number of Pilot Schemes have been created to enable different arrangements to be tested 
and considered before the final national scheme is implemented.  The West Midlands 
Metropolitan Authorities have agreed to participate in a Pilot Scheme with effect from 1 April 
2017.  It is anticipated that the Pilot Scheme will continue until the National Scheme is 
implemented. 
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Payment to Local Government Pension Scheme 
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Note 5 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis  
 
The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows how the Council allocates expenditure for 
decision making purposes between the C�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V��Directorates. Income and expenditure 
accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the 
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Note 6 
Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis  
 
This analysis provides detail of the main adjustments from the Net Expenditure Chargeable 
to the General Fund and HRA balances to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 
 

2015/16 

Depreciation 
reported at 
Directorate 

Level 
Reserve 

Appropriations 
Other 

Adjustments 

Total to arrive 
at amount 

charged to the 
General Fund 

and HRA 

Adjustments 
for Capital 
Purposes 

Net Change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjustment 

Other 
Adjustments 

Total 
Adjustment 
Between 
Funding 

and 
Accounting 

Basis 

 
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

People (1.4) 24.7 (88.6) (65.3) 44.3 (0.9) (4.6) 38.8 

Place 66.6 5.4 (42.8) 29.2 19.9 
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Note 7 
Prior Period Restatement of the Service Expenditure and Income  
 
The 2016/17 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting requires that the Council shows 
its expenditure and income on services on the basis of Directorates.  This is a change from 
previous years where the service analysis was based on the Service Expenditure Code of 
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Service Reporting Code of Practice (SeRCOP) 
Service Line 

(Restated)                          
As Reported in the 

Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 

Statement 2015/16 

Adjustments 
between 
SeRCOP 

classification and 
Internal 

Reporting 
Classifications 

As Restated 
in 2015/16 Directorate 

 £m £m £m 
 Gross Income  

    Continuing Operations £m £m £m  Cultural and Related Services (32.5) 32.5 -  Environmental and Regulatory Services  (27.2) (59.3) (86.5) Place 
Planning Services (56.3) (574.5) (630.8) Corporate Resources 
Housing General Fund (Other Housing 
Services) (586.9) 586.9 -  
Central Services to the Public (12.2) 12.2 -  �&�K�L�O�G�U�H�Q�¶�V���D�Q�G���(�G�X�F�D�W�L�R�Q���6�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V (862.0) (190.6) (1,052.6) People 
Adult Social Care (101.5) 101.5 -  Public Health  (76.6) 76.6 -  Highways and Transport Services (36.9) (17.6) (54.5) Economy 
Local Authority Housing (Housing Revenue 
Account - HRA) (293.3) - (293.3) HRA 

Corporate and Democratic Core (2.8) 2.8 -  Non Distributed Costs - (10.3) (10.3) Corporately Managed 
Total Continuing Operations excluding 
acquired services (2,088.2) (39.8) (2,128.0)  
Acquired Services - from Health      Public Health - Children's Services (11.4) 11.4 -  
Gross Income of Services  (2,099.6) (28.4) (2,128.0) 

 
     (Surplus)/Deficit on Trading Operations not 
consolidated within the Service (61.2) 28.4 (32.8)  
Other Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure (30.6) - (30.6)  
Total Financing and Investment Income 
and Expenditure  (91.8) 28.4 (63.4) 
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Note 11 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure  
 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure disclosed in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement is detailed below. The activity for 2015/16 has been restated to 
reflect a change in the allocation of internal trading income.  Details of the restatement are 
set out in Note 7. 
 
 

2015/16 
 

2016/17 

Gross 
Expenditure Income Net 

 

Gross 
Expenditure Income Net 

£m £m £m 
 

£m £m £m 

184.3 - 184.3 





Birmingham City Council                                                Draft Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2017 
 
 

58 
 

a safe and healthy environment for the pupils/children and staff by achieving and maintaining 
high standards of cleaning in all establishments. 
 
The Mobile Caretaking Service completes a range of duties to cover sickness, holiday or 
where there is a vacancy. 
 
Trade Refuse  
Trade Refuse offers a competitive waste management service to businesses and provides 
Containers and Skips, Prepaid Sacks, Hire of Equipment and Special Collections.  
 
Birmingham  Parks and Nurseries  
Birmingham Parks and Nurseries is responsible for the maintenance of all of the �&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V 
parks and open spaces, as well as the floral displays that have helped to promote the City 
over the years.  In addition, it looks after all of the 'green' maintenance of Council estates, 
highway verges, traffic islands, schools, residential care homes, cemeteries and crematoria, 
playing fields, allotments and children's outdoor playgrounds.  
 
Pest Control  
The Pest Control service provides treatment to commercial properties for rats, mice, insect 
control including wasps, fleas and ants and control of squirrels and pigeons.  Rat pest 
control services are free for domestic users.  
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Note 14 
Grant Income  
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2015/16 
 

2016/17 

£m 
 

£m 

 
Capital Grants  

 
62.1 Education Funding Agency (formerly DSCF fund) 67.5 
0.8 Lottery - 
0.5 Section 106/278 - 
3.3 Department of Health - Community Capacity 2.5 
5.2 Integrated Transport Block 5.2 

- Kickstart 8.1 
0.8 European Regional Development Fund - 

3.3 
Homes & Communities Agency - New Build 
Programme 

0.3 

2.5 Department for Transport (inc. Cycle Ambition) 7.8 
0.7 Homes & Communities Agency 0.9 
0.2 Growing Places 2.2 

14.4 Local Growth Fund 13.1 
2.0 Skills Funding Agency 11.7 
1.0 Urban Broadband Grant - 
1.8 Integrated Transport Authority - 
5.1 Other Grants and Contributions 5.0 

103.7 
Capital Grants credited to Taxation and Non 
Specific Grant Income  

124.3 

   
   

 

Capital Grants funding Reven ue Expenditure 
under Statute credited to Cost of Services  

 - Education Funding Agency 1.0 
3.0 A45 Road Improvement - 
4.4 Department of Health - Better Care Fund 6.3 
1.9 Urban Broadband Grant 0.3 
5.1 European Regional Development Fund 0.9 
0.6 Other Grants and Contributions 0.6 

15.0 
Total  Capital Grants funding Revenue 
Expenditure Under Statute  

9.1 

   
118.7 Total Capital Grants Received  133.4 

 
 
 
 
All Capital Grants received are either non-conditional or the conditions have been met, 
therefore there are no entries to the Capital Grants Receipts in Advance Account for 
2016/17.  The Capital Grants received have been credited to the Taxation and Non Specific 
Grant Income line on the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement except where 
the grant is used to finance Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital under Statute 
(REFCUS) where the grant is credited to the service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 
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Note 15 
Dedicated Schools Grant  
 
�7�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���H�[�S�H�Q�G�L�W�X�U�H���R�Q���V�F�K�R�R�Os is funded primarily by grant monies provided by the 
Education Funding Agency (EFA) through the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  An element 
of DSG is recouped by the EFA to fund academy schools in Birmingham.  DSG is ringfenced 
and can only be applied to meet expenditure properly included in the Schools Budget, as 
defined in the School and Early Years Finance (England) Regulations 2015.  The Schools 
Budget includes elements for a range of educational services provided on a Council wide 
basis and for the Individual Schools Budget (ISB), which is divided into a budget share for 
each maintained school. 
 
Details of the deployment of DSG receivable for 2016/17 are as follows: 
 

 Central 
Expenditure 

Individual 
Schools 
Budget 

Total  

  £m  £m  £m 

Final DSG for 2016/17 before academy 
recoupment 

103.8 995.6 1,099.4 

Academy figure recouped for 2016/17 
 

- (418.1) (418.1) 

Total DSG after Academy recoupment for 
2016/17 
 

103.8 
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Note 17  
Transfer s To/(From) Earmarked Reserves  
 
This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund Balances in earmarked 
reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans and the amounts posted back from 
earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure in 2016/17.   
 

 

Balance at  
31 March 

2015 

Transfers 
Out 

2015/16 

Transfers 
In 2015/16 

Balance at  
31 March 

2016 

Transfers 
Out 

2016/17 

Transfers 
In 

2016/17 

Balance  at  
31 March 

2017 

 

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Earmarked Reserves 136.8 (83.1) 134.2 187.9 (117.4) 65.7 136.2 

Grant Related Reserves 144.7 (61.0) 54.2 137.9 (47.1) 42.6 133.4 

Schools' Reserves 66.0 (5.4) 2.9 63.5 (22.7) 1.7 42.5 

General Fund Balances  347.5 (149.5) 191.3 389.3 (187.2) 110.0 
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Usable Reserves  

Balance at 
31 March 

2016 
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Housing Benefit Subsidy Reserve �± has been earmarked as a contingency reserve should 
there be any adjustments to funding arising from the audit of grant claims. 
 
Local Welfare Reserve �± was earmarked for the continuation of the scheme into 2016/17 
when Central Government funding ceased. A small residual balance remains to be utilised in 
2017/18. 
 
Cyclical Maintenance Reserve �± has been earmarked to fund major maintenance work on 
�W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���D�V�V�H�W�V���L�Q�F�O�X�G�L�Q�J���W�K�H���/�L�E�U�D�U�\���R�I���%�L�U�P�L�Q�J�K�D�P���� 
 
Equipment Renewal Reserve �± has been earmarked to fund equipment renewal for bus lane 
enforcement. 
 
Support to the Business Plan Reserve �± has been earmarked to support one off efficiencies 
and delivery of savings in future years as identified in the Financial Plan 2017+.  
 
Management Capacity for Change Reserve �± the net underspend identified on corporate 
accounts has been set aside for future year contingencies. 
 
Troubled Families �± to support over a three year period, the delivery of specified outcomes 
within the Troubled Families cohort. 
 
Children�¶�V���7�U�X�V�W �± Department for Education funding to support the development, set up and 
�W�U�D�Q�V�L�W�L�R�Q���F�R�V�W�V���R�I���%�L�U�P�L�Q�J�K�D�P�¶�V���&�K�L�O�G�U�H�Q�¶�V���7�U�X�V�W. 
 
Other Earmarked Reserves �± there are a large number of small value reserves which cover 
a wide range of services that hav�H���E�H�H�Q���V�H�W���D�V�L�G�H���W�R���V�X�S�S�R�U�W���I�X�W�X�U�H���\�H�D�U�V�¶���V�H�U�Y�L�F�H���G�H�O�L�Y�H�U�\������
The reserves cover a wide range of areas and include, for example, resources earmarked 
for special educational needs reform, a local innovations fund, highways initiatives, the 
growth strategy for HS2, subvention for major events, replacement IT systems and repairs 
and maintenance for specific service chargeable buildings. 
 
Grant Reserves �± relate to the unused element of grant support for which the conditions of 
the grant are expected to be met or for which there are no conditions of grant aid.  The 
�U�H�V�H�U�Y�H�V���Z�L�O�O���E�H���X�V�H�G���W�R���P�H�H�W���I�X�W�X�U�H���\�H�D�U�V�¶���H�[�S�H�Q�G�L�W�X�U�H���I�R�U���W�K�H���V�H�U�Y�L�F�H���I�R�U���Z�K�L�F�K���W�K�H���J�U�D�Q�W��
was awarded.  
 
�6�F�K�R�R�O�V�¶���%�D�O�D�Q�F�H�V - are the net cumulative balances held by the local authority maintained 
schools which, under national school funding regulations, the schools are entitled to retain 
for unexpected commitments and/or for planned school curriculum/infrastructure 
improvements and investment.   
 
General Fund Balances �± reflect the accumulated surpluses of income over expenditure 
from previous years and any resources set aside as general contingency against adverse 
future events.   General Fund Balances have reduced by £10.0m to £100.8m, which 
primarily results from the planned utilisation of funds set aside for organisational transition, 
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2015/16 
 

2016/17 
£m £m 

 
£m £m 

 
743.8 Balance at 1 April  

 
977.1 

410.8  
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2015/16 
 

2016/17 
£m £m 

 
£m £m 

 271.5 Balance at 1 April   (290.8) 

  

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure 
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Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 
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2015/16 
 

2016/17 
£m 

 
£m 

(2,293.6) Balance at 1 April  (2,087.7) 

261.2 
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit 
liability (748.0) 

(165.0) 

Reversal of items relating to retirement 
benefits debited or credited to the 
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of 
Services in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement  

(149.7) 

109.7 
�(�P�S�O�R�\�H�U�¶�V���S�H�Q�V�L�R�Q�V���F�R�Q�W�U�L�E�X�W�L�R�Q�V���D�Q�G��
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2015/16 

 
2016/17 

£m 
 

£m 
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2015/16 
 

2016/17 
£m 

 
£m 

(561.3) Balance at 1 April  (299.6) 

58.7 (Increase)/reduction in provision for 
back pay in relation to Equal Pay cases 59.9 

203.0 Cash settlements paid in the year 94.5 

261.7 

Amount by which amounts charged for 
Equal Pay claims to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement are 
different from the cost of settlements 
chargeable in the year in accordance 
with statutory requirements 

154.4 

(299.6) Balance at 31 March  (145.2) 
 
 
 
 
Accumulated Absences Account 
 
The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on 
the General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in 
the year e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March.  Statutory arrangements 
require that the impact on the General Fund Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from 
the Account. 
 
 
 

2015/16 
 

2016/17 
£m 

 
£m 

(21.6) Balance at 1 April  (16.9) 

4.7 Settlement or cancellation of accrual made at 
the end of the preceding year 0.6 

- Amounts accrued at the end of the current year (4.2) 

4.7 

Amount by which officer remuneration charged 
to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement on an accruals basis is different from 
remuneration chargeable in the year in 
accordance with statutory requirements 

(3.6) 

(16.9) Balance at 31 March  (20.5) 
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pensionable pay.  The contributions due to be paid in the 2017/18 financial year are 
estimated to be £0.2m on the basis of an employer contribution rate of 14.3%. 
 
The Council is responsible for the costs of any additional benefits awarded upon early 
retirement outside of the terms of the NHS Pension Scheme. These costs are accounted for 
on a defined benefit basis and detailed in Note 21. 
 
�7�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O���L�V���Q�R�W���O�L�D�E�O�H���W�R���W�K�H���V�F�K�H�P�H���I�R�U���D�Q�\���R�W�K�H�U���H�Q�W�L�W�L�H�V�¶���R�E�O�L�J�D�W�L�R�Q�V���X�Q�G�H�U���W�K�H���Slan. 
 
 
 
Note 21 
Defined Benefit Pension Schemes  
 
Participation in Pension Schemes 
 
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, the Council makes 
contributions towards the cost of post-employment benefits. Although these benefits will not 
actually be payable until employees retire, the Council has a commitment to make the 
payments, which needs to be disclosed at the time that employees earn their future 
entitlement. 
 
The Council participates in two post-employment schemes accounted for as defined benefit 
schemes: 
 

�x The Local Government Pension Scheme, administered locally by the West Midlands 
Pension Fund office at Wolverhampton City Council �± this is a funded defined benefit 
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These risks are mitigated, to a certain extent, by the statutory requirements to charge to the 
General Fund and the Housing Revenue Account the amounts required by statute as 
described in Note 1, Accounting Policies.  The process of triennial valuations gives the 
Council certainty of the basis of payments in the intervening years as changes in the net 
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Local Government 
Pension Scheme 

Discretionary 
Benefits 

Arrangements 

      
2015/16 2016/17 2015/16 2016/17 

 £m £m £m £m 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement     

     
Total post-employment benefit charged to the (Surplus)/Deficit on the 
provision of services 163.0 148.0 2.1 1.6 

       

Other post-employment benefit charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement     

remeasurements (liabilities and assets)   (264.7) 747.5 3.5 0.5 

       

Total Po st Employment Benefits charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement  (101.7) 895.5 5.6 2.1 
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Pension Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance Sheet 
 
�7�K�H���D�P�R�X�Q�W���L�Q�F�O�X�G�H�G���L�Q���W�K�H���%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���6�K�H�H�W���D�U�L�V�L�Q�J���I�U�R�P���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���R�E�O�L�J�D�W�L�R�Q���L�Q���U�H�V�S�H�F�W���R�I��
its defined benefit plans is as follows: 
 

 Local Government Pension Scheme Unfunded Teacher 
Pension Scheme 

Total  
 Funded Unfunded 
 2015/16 2016/17 2015/16 2016/17 2015/16 2016/17 2015/16 2016/17 

 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
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Local Government Pension Scheme assets 
 
An analysis of the Local Government Pension Scheme assets is set out below.  
 
 

 
31 March 2016  31 March 2017 
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£m £m £m % £m £m £m % 

Equity Instruments:  
    

  
   UK Quoted 253.4  253.4 7.8% 337.5  337.5 8.3% 

UK Unquoted  49.6 49.6 1.5%  49.1 49.1 1.2% 
Global Quoted 363.2  363.2 11.1% 484.0  484.0 11.9% 
Global Unquoted  322.0 322.0 9.9%  334.8 334.8 8.3% 
Europe 240.3  240.3 7.4% 347.2  347.2 8.6% 
Japan 114.9  114.9 3.5% 179.3  179.3 4.4% 
Pacific Basin 124.6  124.6 3.8% 195.9  195.9 4.8% 
North America 251.7
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Basis for estimating assets and liabilities 
 
�/�L�D�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V���I�R�U���E�R�W�K���W�K�H���/�R�F�D�O���*�R�Y�H�U�Q�P�H�Q�W���3�H�Q�V�L�R�Q���6�F�K�H�P�H���D�Q�G���W�K�H���X�Q�I�X�Q�G�H�G���7�H�D�F�K�H�U�V�¶��
Pension Scheme have been assessed by Barnett Waddingham Limited, an independent firm 
of actuaries.  The assessment has been on an actuarial basis using the projected unit 
method, an estimate of the pensions that will have to be paid in future years dependent on 
assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels etc.  The estimates for the Local 
Government Pension Scheme have been based on the latest full valuation of the scheme as 
at 31 March 2016.  The principal assumptions used by the actuary have been: 
 

Assumptions 
   

Local Government 
Pension Scheme 
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Impact on th�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���&�D�V�K���)�O�R�Z�V 
 
�7�K�H���R�E�M�H�F�W�L�Y�H�V���R�I���W�K�H���V�F�K�H�P�H���D�U�H���W�R���N�H�H�S���H�P�S�O�R�\�H�U�V�¶���F�R�Q�W�U�L�E�X�W�L�R�Q�V���D�W���D�V���F�R�Q�V�W�D�Q�W���D���U�D�W�H���D�V��
�S�R�V�V�L�E�O�H�������7�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O���K�D�V���D�J�U�H�H�G���D���V�W�U�D�W�H�J�\���Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���V�F�K�H�P�H�¶�V���D�F�W�X�D�U�\���W�R���D�F�K�L�H�Y�H���D���I�X�Q�G�L�Q�J��
level of 100% over the next 19 years. Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis.  The 
next triennial valuation will be carried out as at 31 March 2019 and will set contributions for 
the period for 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023. 
 
The Council expects to pay £373.2m of contributions to the scheme in 2017/18 to cover the 
anticipated contributions for the three year period from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020 on the 
�E�D�V�L�V���R�I���W�K�H���H�T�X�L�Y�D�O�H�Q�W���H�P�S�O�R�\�H�U�¶�V���F�R�Q�W�U�L�E�X�W�L�R�Q���U�D�W�H�V���S�O�X�V���D�G�G�L�W�L�R�Q�D�O���S�D�\�P�H�Q�W�V���W�R���I�X�Q�G���W�K�H��
pension deficit in respect of past service costs as detailed below. 
 
Financial Year �(�P�S�O�R�\�H�U�¶�V��

Contribution Rate 
Past Service Cost 
Deficit Payment 

 

 % £m  
2017/18 15.3 61.8  
2018/19 16.8 61.8  
2019/20 18.3 61.5  
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Movements in Balances: 2015/16 (Restated) 
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£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Cost or Valuation  
         

At 1 April 2015  1,810.8 2,319.2 201.5 476.39 614.62 Tm

 -0.0302 Tc 598.42 28.2
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Recurring Fair 
Value 
Measurements 

Input 
level in 
Fair 
Value 
Hierarchy 

Valuation technique used to measure Fair 
Value 

31 March 
2016 Fair 

Value  
 

£m 

31 March 
2017 Fair 

Value 
 

£m 

Highest and 
Best Use 

 
Level 2 

The fair value of surplus properties has 
been measured using a market approach, 
which takes into account quoted prices for 
similar assets in active markets, existing 
lease terms and rentals, research into 
market evidence including market yields, 
the covenant strength for existing tenants, 
and data and market knowledge gained in 
managing the Council's Property Portfolio. 
Market conditions are such that similar 
properties are actively purchased and sold 
and the level of observable inputs is 
significant, leading to the properties being 
categorised as Level 2 on the fair value 
hierarchy.  

7.4 6.0 

 
An analysis of the valuations, by class of asset, broken down by the basis and date of formal 
valuation is set out on the following table. 
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£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Carried at Historical Cost   133.7 583.0 60.3  182.6 959.6 

Valued at fair value as at:         

31 March 2017 2,278.7 1,490.9    6.0  3,775.6 

31 March 2016  328.7      328.7 

31 March 2015  290.7 50.4     341.1 

31 March 2014  143.2      143.2 

31 March 2013  110.5      110.5 

Total cost or valuation  2,278.7 2,364.0 184.1 583.0 60.3 6.0 182.6 5,658.7 

 
Housing Valuation : 
 
The housing stock, land and other property within the HRA are valued in line with the DCLG 
Guidance on Stock Valuation for Resource Accounting published in November 2016. The 
basis of the valuation for the housing stock element is in accordance with the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors using the Existing Use Value - Social Housing basis, 
which takes open market value for the underlying dwellings and applies a discount factor to 
reflect the reduced value as a result of use for social housing for 2016/17 of 40% (2015/16 
34%).  An impairment of £77.2m (2015/16: £73.3m) was made to the carrying value of HRA 
dwellings to reflect the fact that capital expenditure on HRA dwellings did not add equivalent 
value.  Details are included in Note H3 of the Supplementary Statements. 
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Note 25 
Long Term Investments  
 
Details of the �&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V��long term investments are summarised below.   
 

31 March 2016 
 

31 March 2017 
£m 

 
£m 

26.4 
Investment in Subsidiary and 
Associated Companies 26.4 

5.5 Available for Sale Financial Assets 6.8 
0.3 Unquoted Equity Investment at Cost 0.3 

32.2 Total  33.5 
 
 
 
 
Note 26 



Birmingham City Council                                                Draft Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2017 
 
 







Birmingham City Council                                                Draft Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2017 
 
 

95 
 

�…���������P�����V�H�W���D�V�L�G�H���W�R���F�R�Y�H�U���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���V�K�D�U�H���R�I���W�K�H���W�R�W�D�O���H�V�W�L�P�D�W�H�G���X�Q�S�D�L�G���O�L�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���U�H�O�D�W�L�Q�J��
to the settlement of all appeals received up to 31 March 2017.  The remaining share of the 
liability is attributable to Central Government and the West Midlands Fire and Rescue 
Authority.  The Council has assessed the likely cost of settling appeals, based upon the 
history of appeals settled to date and details of those appeals that are still outstanding.  The 
information used in this modelling has been provided by the Valuations Office Agency 
(VOA).    
 
The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government issued regulations allowing 
Local Authorities to spread the impact of accounting for t
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Note 33 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets  
 
Contingent Liabilities 
 
These relate to pending legal or contractual claims not included in the accounts and 
guarantees given by the Council for repayment of loans taken out by certain associated 
companies.  The Council currently has the following contingent liabilities: 
 

1. The Council has an on-going Accountable Body role for a range of grant funding 
regimes, both historical and current, which include supporting programmes and 
projects under its direct control as well as managing Programmes involving wider 
Partnerships with external organisations.   
 
Direct 
For arrangements managed under its control, the Accountable Body function covers 
projects and programmes where the Council accesses European or Domestic grant 
support either for itself or on behalf of another organisation.  In accepting this role the 
Council underwrites the financial performance and delivery of the activity along with 
compliance with the funding regulations.  Under this role there is, depending on the 
nature of the particular scheme, a potential liability to the Council arising from either 
non-delivery of outputs, claiming of ineligible expenditure or from the disposal of 
assets prior to any clawback liability expiring.  The Council has quantified this 
potential liability at 31 March 2017 as £425.4m and has identified future 
commitments of £38.4m. 
 
Partnerships 
Where the Council has accepted the Accountable Body role for grant funding, which 
involves a wider Partnership arrangement and management of the fund, for example 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) or the Regional Growth Fund (RGF), the 
�&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���J�U�D�Q�W���O�L�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���H�[�L�V�W�V���L�I���L�W���L�V���G�H�H�P�H�G���W�K�D�W���L�W���K�D�V���E�H�H�Q���³�X�Q�U�H�D�V�R�Q�D�E�O�H�´���L�Q��
discharging its responsibilities.  The Council has quantified this potential liability at 31 
March 2017 as £405.9m and has identified future expenditure commitments of 
£596.6m. 
 
To minimise the impact of any grant clawback liability for both Direct and Partnership 
Accountable Body type arrangements, the Council has put in place various controls 
and mechanisms, such as legal agreements and charges over assets, and supports 
financial management with detailed expenditure verification and monitoring 
procedures. 
 

2. The Counci�O�¶�V���I�L�Q�D�O���+�R�X�V�L�Q�J���%�H�Q�H�I�L�W���F�O�D�L�P for 2016/17 is still being considered by the 
Department for Work and Pensions.  There may be clawback of subsidy from the 
Council, above the level provided for in the accounts, which would reduce the level of 
benefit income shown and also reduce the General Fund balance carried forward. 
 

3. Under the Equal Pay Act 1970, as amended by the Equal Pay Act (Amendment) 
Regulations 2003, employees are entitled to equal pay for work of equal value.  The 
Council has received a number of claims under the Equal Pay Act and, as a result, 
has set aside a provision of £145.2m (31 March 2016: £310.1m) which incorporates 
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and the determination of any settlements.  The Council has developed a robust 
medium to long term financial plan, set out in the Financial Plan 2017+, which 
recognises the impact of future spending and funding requirements.  The Council 
also has the ability to use capital receipts generated between 1 April 2013 and 31 
March 2018 to meet the costs of equal pay.  
 

4. The Council is facing a number of compensation claims from former employees for 
employment related and current health issues, from people who attended Council 
schools and from other service users.  Currently the validity of any outstanding 
claims is being assessed. 
 

5. The Council received insurance services from Municipal Mutual Insurance (MMI).  
Due to financial difficulties, MMI ceased trading in October 1993 and entered into a 
solvent run off.  MMI entered into a Scheme of Arrangement with its creditors, 
namely the Councils which were owed claim settlements.  The Scheme of 
Arrangement stated that MMI would be able to claw back any claim settlements paid 
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Note 34 
Council Borrowing  
 
A bre�D�N�G�R�Z�Q���R�I���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���E�R�U�U�R�Z�L�Q�J�V��is summarised below: 
 
 

2015/16  2016/17  
Long Term Short Term  Long Term Short Term  

£m £m  £m £m  

160.5 48.6 
�/�H�Q�G�H�U�¶�V���2�S�W�L�R�Q���%�R�U�U�R�Z�H�U�¶�V��
Option (LOBO) loans 

90.5 78.1 
 

410.5 13.5 Local Bonds 444.5 6.5  
2,200.9 100.8 Public Works Loan Board 2,195.9 69.7  

- 267.6 
Other Borrowing (mainly Other 
Local Authorities)   
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Note 37 
Cash Flow Statement - Financing Activities  
 
The cash flows from financing activities include the following: 
 

2015/16 
 

2016/17 
£m 

 
£m 

103.7  Other receipts from financing activities 124.3  
1,054.3  Cash receipts of short-term and long-term borrowing 825.0  

(40.2) 
Cash payments for the reduction of the outstanding liabilities 
relating to finance leases and on-balance sheet PFI contracts 

(44.0) 

(1,211.8) Repayments of short-term and long-term borrowing 
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Note 39 
Financial Instruments  
 
Categories of Financial Instruments  
 
The following categories of financial instrument are carried in the Balance Sheet.   
 
 

 Long Term  Current 

 
31 March 2016 31 March 2017 

 
31 March 2016 31 March 2017 

 £m £m  £m £m 
Investments  

     Loans and receivables - - 
 

58.8 29.3 
Available-for-sale financial assets 5.5 6.8  - - 
Unquoted equity investment at cost 0.3 0.3  - - 
Financial assets at fair value through profit 
and loss - -  - - 

Total  5.8 7.1 
 

58.8 29.3 
Investments that are not financial 
instruments 26.4 26.4  - - 

Total investments  32.2 33.5 
 

58.8 29.3 

      Debtors  
     Loans and receivables 46.0 55.8  3.7 11.1 

Financial assets carried at contract 
amounts - -  196.3 186.0 

Total  46.0 55.8  200.0 197.1 
Debtors that are not financial instruments 29.0 37.1  88.0 
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�µ�6�S�H�F�L�I�L�H�G�¶���V�K�R�U�W���W�H�U�P��
investments (all in Sterling)  

Short term 
rating*  

Long term 
rating*  

Council  
Individual lending 

limit  
Banks (including overseas 
banks) and Building Societies  

F1+ /A1+ /P1 AA- /AA- /Aa3 £25m 
F1+ /A1+ /P1 A-  / A-   /A3 £20m 
F1   /A1   /P1 A-   / A-    /A3 £15m 
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Borrowings are not carried at fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate 
borrowings would not impact on the Surplus/(Deficit) on the Provision of Services or 
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. However, changes in interest payable and 
receivable on variable rate borrowings and investments will be posted to the Surplus/(Deficit)  
on the Provision of Services and affect the General Fund Balance. Movements in the fair 
value of fixed rate investments that have a quoted market price will be reflected in Other 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 
 
These risks are measured and �P�D�Q�D�J�H�G���L�Q���D�F�F�R�U�G�D�Q�F�H���Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���7�U�H�D�V�X�U�\��
Management Strategy, including the setting and monitoring of risk limits on the level of 
variable rate instruments and on the amount of borrowing maturing in future years. 
 
At 31 March 2017, if interest rates had been 1% higher with all other variables held constant, 
the financial effect would be: 

       £m 
Increase in interest payable on variable rate borrowings 3.6 
Increase in interest receivable on variable rate investments (0.3) 
Impact on Surplus/(Deficit)
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Note 41 
Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing  
 
The Council's capital expenditure on an accruals basis, analysed between types of asset, is 
summarised below.  This also includes revenue expenditure funded from capital under 
statute.   
 

 
31 March 2016 31 March 2017 

 
£m £m 

Opening Capital Financing Requ irement  4,347.5 4,523.1 

   Capital Investment 
  Property, Plant and Equipment 343.4 309.0 

Heritage Assets 0.1 0.2 
Intangible Assets 4.7 2.4 
Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital under 
Statute 98.1 26.7 
Secretary of State Direction - Flexible use of Capital 
Receipts - 9.6 
Capital Grant Repayment 0.7 - 
Long Term Loans 8.5 14.7 
Increase in Share Equity 111.8 1.3 

   Sources of Finance 
  Capital Receipts (22.2) 
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Note 42 
Leases  
 
The Council has a significant number of leases, as summarised below. 
 
Council  as the lessee  
 
Finance leases  
The Council has acquired a number of buildings and other assets under finance leases.  The 
assets acquired under these leases are carried in the Balance Sheet at the following net 
amounts.    
 

31 March 
2016 

 31 March 
2017 

 

£m  £m  
18.2 Other Land and Buildings 20.0  
3.5 Vehicles, Plant Furniture & Equipment 
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 Finance Lease debtor Minimum Lease payments 
 31 March 

2016 
31 March 

2017 
31 March 

2016 
31 March 

2017 
 £m £m £m £m 

Not later than 1 year - - 1.5 1.7 
Later than 1 year and not later 
than 5 years 0.1 0.1 6.0 6.5 

Later than 5 years 26.9 28.6 174.7 184.2 
Total  27.0 28.7 



Birmingham City Council                                                Draft Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2017 
 
 

112 
 

�x Waste Disposal. The arrangement includes the management and operation of the 
�&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���+�R�X�V�H�K�R�O�G���5�H�F�\�F�O�L�Q�J���&�H�Q�W�U�H�V, 
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Payments remaining as at 31 
March 2017 Interest Repayment 

of liability 
Payment for 

services Total  

 £m £m £m £m 
Payable in 2017/18 34.5 18.1 74.8 127.4 
Payable within 2 to 5 years 125.7 53.8 203.6 383.1 
Payable within 6 to 10 years 130.5 94.4 241.3 466.2 
Payable within 11 to 15 years 87.1 128.3 286.6 502.0 
Payable within 16 to 20 years 29.5 129.2 204.7 363.4 
Payable within 21 to 25 years 1.7 16.1 16.7 34.5 
Total  
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Note 45 
Officers' Remuneration  
 
�7�K�H���U�H�P�X�Q�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q���S�D�L�G���W�R���R�U���U�H�F�H�L�Y�D�E�O�H���E�\���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���V�H�Q�L�R�U���H�P�S�O�R�\�H�H�V���L�V���G�H�W�D�L�O�H�G���L�Q���Whe 
table below.   
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Notes: 
 
(1) Angela Probert, Strategic Director, Change and Support Services, was appointed Acting Chief 

Executive and Head of Paid Service with effect from 1 March 2017. 
 

(2) Mark Rogers retired from the Council on 28 February 2017.   
 

(3) �3�H�W�H�U���+�D�\���K�H�O�G���W�K�H���V�W�D�W�X�W�R�U�\���U�R�O�H�V���R�I���&�K�L�H�I���(�G�X�F�D�W�L�R�Q���2�I�I�L�F�H�U�����'�L�U�H�F�W�R�U���R�I���&�K�L�O�G�U�H�Q�¶�V���6�R�F�L�D�O���&�D�U�H��
and Director of Adult Social Services during 2016/17.  Peter left the service on 31 March 2017 on 
secondment before he retires on 31 July 2017. 
 

(4) Jon Warlow left the Council on 28 March 2017.  Jon held the statutory role as Section 151 Officer 
to 5 February 2017. 
 

(5) �0�L�N�H���2�¶�'�R�Q�Q�H�O�O���W�R�R�N���X�S���S�R�V�W���D�V���,�Q�W�H�U�L�P���&�K�L�H�I���)�L�Q�D�Q�F�H���2�I�I�L�F�H�U���D�Q�G���6�H�F�W�L�R�Q�����������2�I�I�L�F�H�U���Z�L�W�K���H�I�I�H�F�W��
from 27 March 2017.  Mike has been seconded to the Council from the London Borough of 
Camden for four days each week.  Payments due to the London Borough of Camden in respect 
of the arrangement were £6,400 in 2016/17. 
 

(6) Steve Powell covered the role of Section 151 Officer between 6 February 2017 and 26 March 
2017. 
 

(7) Chris Gibbs was appointed to the role of Acting Strategic Director, Change and Support Services, 
with effect from 1 March 2017, to provide cover whilst Angela Probert was in the role of Acting 
Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service. 

 
 
Comparative figures are only provided for 2015/16 for the period of time where individuals were 
members of the Corporate Leadership Team. 
 
Coverage of statutory posts during periods of annual leave or sickness absence was by officers within 
the relevant teams under delegated responsibilities. 



Birmingham City Council                                                Draft Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2017 
 
 

116 
 

 
2015/16   2016/17 

Teaching 
Staff & Staff 
in Schools 

Other 
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Note 46 
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England Illegal Money Lending Team 
 
The England Illegal Money Lending Team seizes and holds cash from third parties 
temporarily as part of its Accountable Body activities on behalf of the Courts. 
 
Trusts 
 
The Council provides administrative and accountancy support to a number of trusts and 
some of �W�K�R�V�H���D�U�H���W�U�D�Q�V�D�F�W�H�G���W�K�U�5�8�J�K���W�K�H���&�5�8�Q�F�L�O�¶�6���E�D�Q�N���D�F�F�U�8�Q�W�6.  Included within this 
group are activities related to the collection of rent and management of properties on behalf 
of Housing Trusts and Community Associations. 
 
External Payrolls 
 
The Council provides payroll services to a number of external organisations, including 
Academy Schools and Colleges of Further Education, using capacity within its payroll 
system.  Whilst the cost of providing the service is charged to the external organisation and 
forms part of the CIES, the payroll records for the external organisations do not form part of 
�W�K�H���&�5�8�Q�F�L�O�¶�6���I�L�1�D�Q�F�L�D�O���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�6���� 
 
Subsidiary Companies 
 
The Council records the activity of two of its subsidiary companies, National Exhibition 
Centre (Developments) PLC and InReach (Birmingham) Limited, in its financial ledger. 
Whilst not forming part of the Council entity financial statements, the companies are 
c�5�1�V�5�O�L�G�D�W�H�G���L�1�W�5���W�K�H���&�5�8�Q�F�L�O�¶�6���J�U�5�8�S���D�F�F�U�X�Q�W�6�� 
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Note 50  
Trust F unds  
 
The Council administers a number of trust funds which have been established from 
donations and bequests made to it to meet a variety of objectives and purposes.  The total 
monies held at 31 March 2017 was £28.6m (2015/16: £27.4m).  In addition, the Council held 
£3.2m (2015/16: £3.3m) of Adult Services Clients' Funds.  The trust funds and clients' funds 
do not represent assets of the Council and have not been included in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheet.  The major trust funds are detailed below. 
 

 Balance at 
31 March 

2016 

Income Expenditure Balance at 
31 March 

2017 
 £m
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Housing Revenue Account  - Income and Expenditure Statement  
 
The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) reflects a statutory obligation to maintain a revenue 
account for local Council housing provision in accordance with Part 6 of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989. The Account is required to be self-financing and cannot 
subsidise or be subsidised by the General Fund. The HRA Income and Expenditure 
Statement shows the economic cost in the year of providing housing services in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from 
rents and government grants. The Council charges rents to cover expenditure in accordance 
with regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost. The increase or decrease in 
the year, on the basis of which rents are raised, is shown in the Movement on the HRA 
Statement.  
 
The Income and Expenditure Statement for 2015/16 has been restated to recognise the 
reallocation of the HRA share of Corporate and Democratic Core costs and the costs in the 
Net Cost of Services not allocated to specific services to Repairs and Maintenance and 
Supervision and Management budget heads.  
 
     

2015/16 
(Restated)   Note   

2016/17 
 

£m   £m 
  Income    

(267.7)  Dwellings rents  (263.8) 

(6.1) 
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Notes to the Housing Revenue Account  
 
H1. Housing Stock  
 
The types of properties (including Shared Ownership properties) owned by the Council at  
31 March comprise: 
 

31 March 2016  31 March 2017 
3,726 1 bedroom bungalows 3,725 

15,248 1 bedroom flats 15,152 

47 1 bedroom houses 49 

292 2 bedroom bungalows 296 

10,843 2 bedroom flats 10,758 

8,546 2 bedroom houses 8,494 

35 3 or more bedroom bungalows 31 

4,200 3 or more bedroom flats 4,150 

19,700 3 or more bedroom houses 19,415 

62,637



Birmingham City Council                                                Draft Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2017 
 
 

133 
 

During the year, £95.9m was spent on HRA dwellings of which £77.2m was impaired as not 
adding value to the dwellings.  This impairment was charged against the HRA in the CIES. 
 
At 31 March 2017, the Council also owned 82 dwellings (2016: 119) that were occupied by 
trespassers following the death or departure of the tenant of that property.  These properties 
are, therefore, not available for social housing.  These properties are not considered to have 
a value whilst they are occupied in this way, but if they were to become available for social 
housing, their value, on the basis of an Existing Use Value �± Social Housing (EUV-SH) 
would be £2.8m (2016: £3.2m). 
 
The value of Council dwellings is broken down into components as follows: 
 

31 March 2016   31 March 2017 

 £m    £m 

404.7 Land   529.7 

19.5 Kitchens  20.4 

25.3 Bathrooms  21.7 

56.6 Windows   43.4 

38.3 Heating   52.2 

33.2 Roofs  37.1 
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H4. Major Repairs Reserve  
 
A transfer is made to the Major Repairs Reserve each year of a value equivalent to the 
amount charged to the HRA for depreciation of dwellings based on the componentised 
valuation of the dwellings and individual component residual lives, to make provision for 
ongoing elemental renewal over the longer term. 
 
The main movements on the Major Repairs Reserve are set out below 
 

2015/16    2016/17 
£m    £m 

15.8 Balance on Major Repairs Reserve at 1 April  5.8 

37.8 Amount transferred to Major Repairs Reserve during the 
year 47.5 

(47.8) 
Charge to the Major Repairs Reserve during the financial 
year in respect of capital expenditure on the land, houses 
�D�Q�G���R�W�K�H�U���S�U�R�S�H�U�W�\���Z�L�W�K�L�Q���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���+�5�$ 

(14.3) 

5.8 Balance on Major Repairs Reserve at 31 March  39.0 
 
 
 
H5. Capital E xpenditure on HRA Assets  
 
Capital expenditure on HRA assets was funded from the following sources: 
 

2015/16  2016/17 
£m  £m 

22.2 Usable Capital Receipts (Right to Buy / land) 22.5 

47.8 Major Repairs Reserve 14.3 
20.1 HRA Revenue contributions 



Birmingham City Council                                                



Birmingham City Council                                                Draft Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2017 
 
 

136 
 

Collection Fund Income and Expenditure Account  
 
The Collection Fund Income and Expenditure Account reflects the statutory requirement for 
the Council to maintain a separate Collection Fund for Council Tax and Business Rates or 
National Non Domestic Rates (NNDR).  The statement shows transactions in relation to the 
collection of income from tax payers and the distribution to major preceptors and the Council 
itself, as principal.  The resulting balance is apportioned between the Council and major 
preceptors.  
 

 
 
 

Council Tax NNDR Total Council Tax NNDR Total

£m £m £m Income £m £m £m

(322.9) (322.9) Collectable Council Tax (343.0) (343.0)

(322.9) (322.9) (343.0) (343.0)

(437.2) (437.2) Collectable Business Rates (445.1) (445.1)

1.1            1.1            
Transitional Payment Payable to 
Government

1.7            1.7            

(436.1) (436.1) (443.4) (443.4)

(3.8) (3.8)
Enterprise Zone Deficit Repayable to the 
Collection Fund

(2.2) (2.2)

Apportionment of Prior Year Deficit:

-                   (2.1) (2.1) Birmingham City Council -                   (17.9) (17.9)

(2.3) (2.3) Central Government (18.3) (18.3)

-                   - -                
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Notes to the Collection Fund  
C1. Contributions from Council Taxpayers  
 
The C
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Draft Statement of GROUP Accounts 2016/17 
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Narrative Report  
 
 
1 Introduction  

 
 

1.1 This document presents the statutory financial statements for Birmingham City 
Council Group (the Group) for the period from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017.  The 
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4 The Main Financial Statements  
  

4.1 The following statements consolidate the accounts of the Council with those of its 
subsidiaries and associates. Transactions between the Council and its Group entities 
are eliminated on consolidation. 
  

4.2 Group Movement in Reserves Statement (GMiRS) �± provides a reconciliation of the 
movement in year on the different reserves held and how the balance of resources 
�J�H�Q�H�U�D�W�H�G���R�U���X�V�H�G���L�Q���W�K�H���\�H�D�U���U�H�F�R�Q�F�L�O�H�V���W�R���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���V�W�D�W�X�W�R�U�\���U�H�T�X�L�U�H�P�H�Q�W�V���I�R�U��
raising Council Tax. 
 

4.3 The Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (GCIES) �± provides 
the accounting cost in year recognised by the Group, in a specified format, in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. Details of the net 
surplus/(deficit) on the provision of services is detailed below. 
 
 
 2015/16 2016/17 
 Entity Group Entity Group 
 £m £m
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Group Cash Flow Statement  
 
The Group Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the 
Group during the reporting period.   
 
 

2015/16 
 

Note 2016/17 

£m 
  

£m 

91.2 Net Surplus/(Deficit) on the provision of 
services  (100.9) 

443.0 
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ACCOUNTS 
 
 
Note G1 
Accounting Policies  
 
�7�K�H���*�U�R�X�S���)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���6�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�V���V�X�P�P�D�U�L�V�H���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���D�Q�G���*�U�R�X�S�¶�V���W�U�D�Q�V�D�F�W�L�R�Q�V���I�R�U���W�K�H��
2016/17 financial year.  The Group Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17, 
supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 
 
Members within the Group have been classified as either subsidiaries, associates or joint 
ventures with details included in respect of the classification within Notes G25 and G26.  
Subsidiaries have been consolidated into the Group Financial Statements on a line by line 
basis, with associates and joint ventures consolidated under the equity method. 
 
Investments in associates are carried at cost rather than fair value. 
 
Notes to the Group Financial Statements have been presented where the figures are 
materially different from those of the Council entity accounts.  Where there are no material 
differences, the Notes to the Council entity accounts provide the required disclosures. 
 
Accounting policies of the individual members of the Group have been aligned to the 
�&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���Dccounting policies.   
 
The accounting policies applied to the Group Financial Statements are consistent with those 
set out in Note 1 to the Council entity financial statements, with additional policies specific to 
the Group set out below. 
 
Disposal of a Su bsidiary Company  
 
When a subsidiary company is disposed of, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are 
derecognised at their carrying value at the time of disposal and the value of any 
consideration received is recognised.  The transactions plus any resulting differences are 
identified in the Profit/Loss on disposal of a subsidiary and form part of the Surplus/Deficit on 
Provision of Services within the Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Defined Contribution Pension Schemes  
 
The NEC Limited Group funded two defined benefit schemes, which ceased to provide 
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Note G2 
Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies  
 
National Exhibition Centre 
 
On 16 January 2015, the Council announced that it had entered into a binding agreement for 
the disposal of The National Exhibition Centre Limited (NEC Ltd) to Lloyds Development 
Capital, the private equity arm of Lloyds Banking Group.  
 
The disposal of the assets related to the NEC Group within the Council entity accounts and 
the subsidiaries consolidated within the Group accounts have been treated as one 
transaction on consolidation. 
 
Other critical judgements relating to the Council in applying Accounting Policies are provided 
in Note 2 to the Council entity accounts. 
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Note G4 
Prior Period Res tatement of the Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement  
 
The 2016/17 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting requires that the Council shows 
its expenditure and income on services on the basis of Directorates.  This is a change from 
previous years where the service analysis was based on the Service Reporting Code of 
Practice.  This note sets out how the net Group expenditure and income has been restated. 
 

Service Reporting Code of Practice (SeRCOP) 
Service Line 

(Restated)                          
As Reported in the 

Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 

Statement 2015/16 

Adjustments 
between 
SeRCOP 

classification and 
Internal 

Reporting 
Classifications 

As Restated 
in 2015/16 Directorate 

 £m £m £m 
 Net Expenditure  

    Continuing Operations 
    Cultural and Related Services 75.4 (75.4) - 

 Environmental and Regulatory Services  77.9 149.3 227.2 Place 
Planning Services (8.9) 12.5 3.6 Corporate Resources 
Housing General Fund (Other Housing 
Services) 54.6 (54.6) -  
Central Services to the Public 8.8 (8.8) -  �&�K�L�O�G�U�H�Q�¶�V���D�Q�G���(�G�X�F�D�W�L�R�Q���6�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V 245.5 279.0 524.5 People 
Adult Social Care 268.2 (268.2) -  Public Health  8.9 (8.9) -  Highways and Transport Services 201.0 (4.3) 196.7 Economy 
Local Authority Housing (Housing Revenue 
Account - HRA) (106.6) (0.5) (107.1) HRA 

Corporate and Democratic Core (1.5) 1.5 -  Non Distributed Costs 24.6 (24.7) (0.1) Corporately Managed 
Total Continuing Operations excluding 
acquired services 847.9 (3.1) 844.8  
Acquired Services - from Health      
Public Health - Children's Services (3.1) 3.1 -  
Net Cost of Services  844.8 - 844.8  

     (Surplus)/Deficit on Trading Operations not 
consolidated within the Service (1.4) - (1.4)  
Other Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure 226.8 - 226.8  
Total Fi nancing and Investment Income 
and Expenditure  225.4 - 225.4 

 
     
     
Gross Expenditure     
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  2015/16  
  £m  

Consideration Received   224.8  
    
Net cost of disposal  (5.1)  
Net disposal proceeds   219.7  
    
Assets/Liabilities disposed of:    
Tangible Assets  285.1  
Debtors  38.9  
Short Term Creditors  (104.0)  
Long Term Liabilities  (86.7)  
Total Net Assets/ (Liabilities )  133.3  
    
Gain on disposal of subsidiary   86.4  
 
 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
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NEC (Developments) Plc has accounted for amounts provided by the Council as capital 
contributions where there are no rights or obligations, including repayment, attached.  The 
capital contributions are considered to be distributable reserves. Following the transactions 
and alignment of accounting policies there has been a reduction in member equity of £6.2m 
(2015/16; reduction of £43.5m).   
 
 
Note G9 
Property, Plant and Equipment  
 
Details of the Group Property, Plant and Equipment are set out below.  The PFI/Service 
Concession assets included in Property, Plant and Equipment have been restated for 
2015/16 to reflect the highways activity incurred by the Council which is subsumed in the PFI 
contract.  
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Movements in Balances: 2015/16 (Restated) 
 

 C
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Note G10 
Financ ial Instruments  
 
 
Debtors and Cash 
Debtors and cash consolidated as part of the Group Financial Statements are classified as 
loans and receivables.  Further information on Group debtors is provided in Note G11. 
 
Creditors 
Short term creditors consolidated as part of the Group Financial Statements are classified as 
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Note G12 
Short Term Creditors   
 
The table below shows amounts owed by the Council Group undertaking at the end of the 
year that are due within 12 months, split by type of organisation.   
 

31 March 2016 
 

31 March 2017 

£m 
 

£m 
(40.3) Central government bodies (36.3) 

(5.8) Other local authorities (6.3) 

(3.8) NHS bodies (3.5) 

(36.2) Public corporations and trading funds (99.9) 

(243.3) Other entities and individuals (223.2) 

(329.4) Total  (369.2) 
 
 
 
Note G13 
Usable Reserves  
 
�'�H�W�D�L�O�V���R�I���W�K�H���*�U�R�X�S�¶�V���X�V�D�E�O�H���U�H�V�H�U�Y�H�V���D�U�H���G�H�W�D�L�O�H�G���E�H�O�R�Z�� 
 

31 March 2016 
 

31 March 2017 
£m 

 
£m 

227.7 General Fund 247.6 
312.1 Capital Receipts Reserve 278.3 
389.3 Earmarked General Fund Reserves 312.1 

4.6 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 4.6 
5.8 Major Repairs Reserve 39.0 

73.0 Capital Grants Unapplied 95.2 
(77.9) Profit and Loss Reserve (120.7) 
(19.0) Designated Funds (19.4) 
(23.0) Other Charitable Funds (27.4) 

4.8 Merger Reserve 4.8 

897.4 Total  814.1 
 
 
Further analysis is provided below for material usable reserves. 
 
Movements in the General Fund are set out in the Council and Group Movement in 
Reserves Statements, further supported by Note 18 to the Council entity accounts. 
Differences arising on group consolidation are set out in Note G13 to the Group Accounts. 
 
 
Profit and Loss Reserve 
 
The Profit and Loss Reserve consolidates the in-year results for subsidiaries. In the Group 
Financial Statements it is kept separate from the General Fund given the specific statutory 
restrictions that apply to the General Fund.  Depreciation charges in subsidiaries remain as 
charges to the Profit and Loss Reserve. 
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2015/16  2016/17 
£m  £m 

(279.0) Balance at 1 April  (77.9) 

201.1 
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Note G19 
Group Expenditure and Funding by Nature of Activity  
 
�'�H�W�D�L�O���R�I���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���(�[�S�H�Q�G�L�W�X�U�H���D�Q�G���)�X�Q�G�L�Q�J���E�\���1�D�W�X�U�H���R�I���$�F�W�L�Y�L�W�\���L�V���S�U�R�Y�L�G�H�G���L�Q���1�R�W�H�������W�R��
the entity accounts.   
 
 

2015/16 
 

2016/17 
£m Expenditure £m 

1,006.2 Employee Benefits Expenses 959.5 
1,844.1 Other Service Expenses 1,768.4 

150.5 Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment 224.4 
261.9 Interest Payments 259.7 
51.9 Precepts and Levies 51.1 
6.6 Payments to Housing Capital Receipts Pool 6.3 

40.3 Loss on Disposal of Non-Current Assets 148.8 
3,361.5 Total Expenditure  3,418.2
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Note G20 
Related Parties  
 
Details of the Council's material transactions with related parties are provided in Note 48 to 
the Council entity accounts. 
 
In addition to the related parties detailed within Note 48 to the Council entity accounts those 
included below are deemed to be related parties of the Group �± bodies or individuals with 
the potential to control or significantly influence the Group entities or to be controlled or 
significantly influenced by the Group entities. Where in-year transactions and outstanding 
balances between Group entities and associated related parties are £1m or greater, they are 
disclosed below.  The Group entities and their relationships with the Council are detailed in 
Notes G25 and G26. 
 
 Purchased 

From 
Sold 

To 
Net amount Due 

(To)/From 
 £m £m £m 
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Note G21 
Leases  
 
Group as the lessee  
 
Finance leases  
 
Details of the Council's finance leases are provided in Note 42 to the Council entity 
accounts. 
 
Operating leases  
 
Details of the Council's operating leases are provided in Note 42 to the Council entity 
accounts. 
 
Group as the lessor  
 
Finance leases  
 
Details of the Council's finance leases are provided in Note 42 to the Council entity 
accounts. 
 
The Council is the lessor for premises leased to Innovation Birmingham Group Limited (IBL).  
As a group subsidiary entity, these leases are eliminated from the group accounts.  The 
information in the section below provides details of the material leases with group entities, 
which are to be excluded from the disclosures provided in Note 42 to the Council entity 
accounts in deriving the group disclosures.  
 
 

31 March 2016  31 March 2017  
£m  £m  

 Finance lease debtor (net present value of 
minimum lease payments): 

  

-  - Current -  
7.7  - Non current 7.7  

13.8 Unearned finance income 13.6  
(0.1) Unguaranteed residual value of property (0.1)  
21.4 Gross investment in the lease  21.2  

    
 
The gross investment in the lease and the minimum lease payments will be received over 
the following periods: 
 

 Gross investment in the 
lease 

 Minimum lease payments 

 31 March 
2016 

31 March 
2017 

 31 March 
2016 

31 March 
2017 

 £m £m  £m £m 
Not later than one year - -  0.2 0.2 
Later than one year and not 
later than five years 

0.1 0.1  0.7 0.7 

Later than five years 7.6 7.6  20.5 20.3 
Total  7.7 7.7  21.4 21.2 
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Movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: 
 
  2015/16 2016/17  
  £m £m  
 Beginning of Period 141.2 157.4  
 Interest income on plan assets 5.3 5.4  
 Return on plan assets in excess on interest income (4.1) 26.9  
 Contributions by employer 20.5 -  
 Administration expenses paid (0.4) (0.7)  
 Benefits paid (5.0) (5.1)  
 Fair value of plan assets at 31 March  157.4 184.0  
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The life expectancy for members as at the balance sheet date: 
 
  31 March 2016 31 March 2017  
  Years Years  
  Fund Scheme Fund Scheme  
 Male: member aged 65 (current life expectancy) 22.0 23.7 22.2 23.4  
 Female: member aged 65 (current life expectancy) 24.4 25.0 24.7 24.6  
 Male: member aged 45 (life expectancy at age 65) 23.7 25.4 23.2 24.7  
 Female: member aged 45 (life expectancy at age 65) 26.3 26.9 26.2 26.1  
 
 
Sensitivity Analysis 
 
An increase of 0.25% in the discount rate would decrease the retirement benefit obligations 
by £10.6m 
An increase of 0.25% in the inflation rate would increase the retirement benefit obligations by 
£8.0m 
An increase of one year to life expectancy would increase the retirement benefit obligations 
by £8.9m 
 
The duration of the NEC Limited Pension liabilities is around 22 years, and the duration of 
the NEC Executive Pension Scheme liabilities is around 15 years. 
 
 
Expected Contributions for 2017/18 
 
The contribution schedule in force sets out contributions of £0.94m in respect of the Fund 
and no contributions for the Scheme in the 2017/18 financial year.  This is subject to change 
at the agreement of the 2016 valuation.  The Council has accounted for its contribution 
requirements in its entity accounts on the basis of its guarantee. 
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Acivico Limited Group 
�7�K�H���&�R�P�S�D�Q�\�¶�V���V�X�E�V�L�G�L�D�U�\���F�R�P�S�D�Q�L�H�V���S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�W�H���L�Q���W�K�H���:�H�V�W���0�L�G�O�D�Q�G�V���3�H�Q�V�L�R�Q���)�X�Q�G�����D��
Local Government Pension Scheme. 
 
The information disclosed below is in respect of the whole of the plans for which the 
Company is either the sponsoring employer or has been allocated a share of cost under an 
agreed group policy throughout the periods shown. 
 
  2015/16 2016/17  
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Other Comprehensive Income 
 
�7�K�H���D�P�R�X�Q�W�V���U�H�F�R�J�Q�L�V�H�G���L�Q���$�F�L�Y�L�F�R�¶�V���2�W�K�H�U���&�R�P�S�U�H�K�H�Q�V�L�Y�H���,�Q�F�R�P�H���D�Q�G���F�R�Q�V�R�O�L�G�D�W�H�G���L�Q�W�R��
the Group Consolidated Other Comprehensive Income are as follows: 
 
  2015/16 2016/17  
  £m £m  
 Actuarial (gain)/loss on liabilities  (3.2) 31.2  
 Actuarial (gain)/loss on plan assets 1.7 (27.2)  
 Remeasurement (gain)/loss recognised during the 

period  
(1.5) 4.0 

 

 
 
The fair value of the plan assets and the return on those assets were as follows: 
 
  2015/16 

Fair Value 
2016/17 

Fair Value 
 

  £m % £m %  
 Equities 28.8 60 49.8 64  
 Government Bonds 3.7 8 6.3 8  
 Other Bonds 2.2 5 3.2 4  
 Property 3.9 8 6.0 8  
 Cash/Liquidity 2.2 5 2.2 3  
 Other 6.8 14 9.9 13  
 Total  47.6 100 77.3 100  
 
Principal actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages) at the year-end were as 
follows: 
  2015/16 2016/17  
  % %  
 Discount rate 3.8 2.7  
 Future salary increases 4.0 4.2  
 Future pension increases 2.2 2.7  
 CPI increases 2.2 2.7  
 
In valuing the liabilities of the pension fund at 31 March 2017, mortality assumptions have 
been made as indicated below.   
 
The life expectancy for members as at the balance sheet date: 
 
 31 March 2016 31 March 2017 
Male: member aged 65 (current life expectancy) 23.0 21.8 
Female: member aged 65 (current life expectancy) 25.7 24.2 
Male: member aged 45 (life expectancy at age 65) 25.3 23.9 
Female: member aged 45 (life expectancy at age 65) 28.0 26.5 
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Birmingham Museums Trust Limited 
The Museums Trust participates in the West Midlands Pension Fund, a Local Government 
Pension Scheme, for those staff who transferred from the Council to the Trust. 
 
The information disclosed below is in respect of the whole of the plans for which the 
Company is either the sponsoring employer or has been allocated a share of cost under an 
agreed group policy throughout the periods shown.  
 
 
  2015/16 2016/17  
  £m £m  
 Present value of funded defined benefit obligations (14.4) (19.2)  
 Fair value of plan assets 13.8 16.9  
 Net (Liability)/Asset  (0.6) (2.3)  
 
 
Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligation: 
 
  2015/16 2016/17  
  £m £m  
 Balance at beginning of period 

£m

 

£m
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Note G23 
Adjustments between Group Accounts and Council Accounts  
 
�7�K�H���I�R�O�O�R�Z�L�Q�J���D�G�M�X�V�W�P�H�Q�W�V���D�U�H���P�D�G�H���L�Q���W�K�H���*�U�R�X�S�¶�V���0�R�Y�H�P�H�Q�W���L�Q���5�H�V�H�U�Y�H�V���6�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W���L�Q��
order to reconcile the General Fund balance back to its Council position prior to funding 
basis adjustments being made. 
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 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
2015/16 

     
  

 
  

 
  

Provision of goods and 
services to subsidiaries 

7.1 
    

7.1 
 

7.1 (7.1) - 

Purchases of goods 
and services from 
subsidiaries  

(29.1)     (29.1)  (29.1) 29.1 - 

Impairment of capital 
contribution to a 
subsidiary 

(66.3)     (66.3)  (66.3) 66.3 - 

Total adjustments 
between Group 
accounts and Council 
accounts  

(88.3) - - - - (88.3) - (88.3) 88.3 - 

 
             

2016/17      
  

 
  

 
  

Provision of goods and 
services to subsidiaries 

6.5     6.5  6.5 (6.5) - 

Purchases of goods 
and services from 
subsidiaries  

(26.1)     (26.1)  (26.1) 26.1 - 

Total adjustments 
between Group 
accounts and Council 
accounts  

(19.6) - - - - (19.6) - (19.6) 19.6 - 
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Recommended Practice, which means that there may be restrictions on the use of the funds 
which are available to the charity as defined in its objectives.   
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services on behalf of and to the Council and to other public and private sector clients.  The 
Council has held the £1 issued ordinary share (100%) for the whole of the reporting period 
covered by these financial statements.   
 
 
 2015/16 2016/17  
 £m £m  
Profit/(Loss) for the  year (0.7) (1.7)  
Net Assets/(Liabilities) at the year-end (1.5) (7.2)  
 
 
The year end of the company is 31 March 2017 and for the purposes of consolidation these 
accounts have been used.  There was no qualification to the audit opinion on the last 
audited accounts of the group. 
 
Information regarding transactions during the year and balances held at the year-end 
between the Council and Acivico Limited Group can be found within Note 48 of the Council 
entity accounts. 
 
 
 
VI. PETPS (Birmingham) Limited  
 
PETPS (Birmingham) Limited, a company limited by guarantee was incorporated on 14 
November 2014.  The company is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Council. 
 
Following completion of the sale of the National Exhibition Centre Limited Group (NEC 
Limited) on 1 May 2015, PETPS (Birmingham) Limited replaced NEC Limited as the 
principal employer and assumed the ongoing funding obligation of two defined benefit 
pension schemes with the agreement of the pension trustees.   
 
 
 2015/16 2016/17  
 £m £m  
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summarised financial information for the associate for the year ended 31 March is detailed 
below: 
 
31 March 2016  31 March 2017  

£m  £m 
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date of the signing of its financial statements, the total amount outstanding under the 
facility was £nil.  
 
 

II. Service Birmingham Limited  
 
The company was incorporated on 22 December 2005 and operates between Capita 
Business Services Limited, who hold 650 Ordinary-B shares (68%), and Birmingham City 
Council who hold 300 Ordinary-A shares (32%). The company was formed to facilitate the 
strategic partnership between the two entities and operates within the ICT and Advisory 
Services division of the Capita Group Plc.  Trading commenced on 1 April 2006, with the 
principal activity being the provision of ICT and business transformation outsourcing services 
to the Council. 
 
The year end of the company is 31 December 2016, in line with that of its parent company 
Capita Plc.  For the purposes of the consolidation these accounts have been used as they 
�I�D�O�O���Z�L�W�K�L�Q���W�K�U�H�H���P�R�Q�W�K�V���R�I���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���\�Har end, with adjustments being made for the three 
month periods at the start and end of the reporting year.  There was no qualification on the 
audit opinion for these audited accounts of the company. 
 
Following adjustments to the financial information to align accounting policies with those of 
the Council, in accordance with the principles of equity accounting under the Code, the 
summarised financial information for the associate for the year ended 31 March is as follows: 
 
31 March 2016  31 March 2017  

£m  £m  
5.0 Non-Current Assets 4.0  

31.2 Current Assets 23.5  
(30.8) Current Liabilities (20.9)  

- Non-Current Liabilities (0.2)  
5.4 Net Assets  6.4  

    

1.7 
Council Interest in Net Assets 
@ 32% 

2.0 
 

    
83.9 Revenue  82.7  

    
8.4 Post-Tax Profit/(Loss)  10.9  

- 
Other Comprehensive 
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Annual Governance Statement 2016/17 
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policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an 
on-going process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of 
�W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���S�R�O�L�F�L�H�V�����D�L�P�V���D�Q�G���R�E�M�H�F�W�L�Y�H�V�����W�R���H�Y�D�O�X�D�W�H���W�K�H���O�L�N�H�O�L�K�R�R�G���R�I���W�K�R�V�H���U�L�V�N�V��
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically.  

 
2.5. The governance framework has been in place at the Council for the year ended 31 

March 2017 and up to the date of approval of the Statement of Accounts. 

 

3. The governance framework  

 
3.1. The key elements of the systems and processes that comprise the Council's 

governance arrangements include the following:  

 
�7�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���Y�L�V�L�R�Q���D�Q�G���S�U�L�R�U�L�W�L�H�V���I�R�U���%�L�U�P�L�Q�J�K�D�P 

 
3.2. �7�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���Y�L�V�L�R�Q���D�Q�G���S�U�L�R�U�L�W�L�H�V���L�Q���W�H�U�P�V���R�I���W�K�H���F�R�Q�W�U�L�E�X�W�L�R�Q���W�R���V�W�U�D�W�H�J�L�F���R�X�W�F�R�P�H�V��

are set out in the Vision and Forward Plan (the Plan). The Plan is updated each year 
and is av�D�L�O�D�E�O�H���R�Q���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���Z�H�E�V�L�W�H������ 

3.3. The Plan articulates the strategic direction for the Council with a clear set of 
corporate priorities.  These priorities have been informed by extensive consultation 
with Cabinet Members and Members from opposition groups.  Outcomes have been 
developed and progress against these priorities is monitored through a set of key 
performance measures which have been formally agreed by Cabinet following 
discussion with Members. Regular monitoring and reporting against these measures 
ensures that shortfalls in performance are identified at an early stage and effective 
action to bring performance in line with targets is undertaken. 

  
3.4. In turn, the corporate priorities are supported by more detailed Directorate and 

Service Plans which are also regularly monitored and reviewed. 

 
3.5. The Council ensures the economical, effective and efficient use of resources, and 

secures continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, by 
having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness as required 
�E�\���W�K�H���%�H�V�W���9�D�O�X�H���G�X�W�\�������$�F�K�L�H�Y�H�P�H�Q�W���R�I���Y�D�O�X�H���I�R�U���P�R�Q�H�\���L�V���S�D�U�W���R�I���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���O�R�Q�J��
term financial strategy. 

 
3.6. 
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(to deliver better health and care for local people).  
 

3.7. �7�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���Y�L�V�L�R�Q���I�R�U���W�K�H���I�X�W�X�U�H���R�I���%�L�U�P�L�Q�J�K�D�P���L�V���I�R�U���D���F�L�W�\���R�I���J�U�R�Z�W�K�����L�Q���Z�K�L�F�K��
every child, citizen and place matters. 
 

3.8. The Council has four clear priorities: 

3.8.1. Children �± a great place to grow up in �����7�R���P�D�N�H���W�K�H���E�H�V�W���R�I���W�K�H���F�L�W�\�¶�V��
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3.10. 
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3.13. Profound change across local government is also underway. During 2016/17 the 
WMCA was established and a mayor elected on 6 May 2017.  The WMCA uses 
devolved powers from central government to allow the Council, along with its regional 
counterparts, to drive economic growth, investment and the reform of public services.  
There will be continued innovative ways of delivering local services and for people to 
engage in their local community, such as through the local council for Sutton 
Coldfield. 
 

3.14. The Council has a strong public, third sector, and business engagement role.  There 
is an established Partnership Toolkit setting out the governance and internal control 
arrangements which must be in place when the Council enters into partnership 
working. This includes arrangements for the roles of Members and Officers, and the 
implementation and monitoring of objectives and key targets. A programme of review 
against these requirements is led by Overview and Scrutiny.   

 
3.15. �7�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O���O�D�X�Q�F�K�H�G���D���%�L�U�P�L�Q�J�K�D�P���3�D�U�W�Q�H�U�V�¶���1�H�W�Z�R�U�N���W�R���S�U�R�Y�L�G�H���W�K�H���V�S�D�F�H���D�Q�G��time 

for key players across Birmingham to come together. 

 
3.16. Working with partners, the Council assumes a strategic role for the Greater 

Birmingham area, working with the Greater Birmingham and Solihull Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) to develop collaborative solutions to common problems, and 
facilitating coherent programmes with regional and international partners to deliver an 
economic strategy for the city and region. 
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3.20. The Council facilitates policy and decision�±making via an Executive Structure.  There 
were ten members of Cabinet for the 2016/17 financial year: The Leader, Deputy 
Leader and eight other Cabinet Members with the following portfolios:  

 
�x Cabinet Member �± Children, Families and Schools; 

�x Cabinet Member �± Value for Money and Efficiency; 

�x Cabinet Member �± Transport and Roads; 

�x Cabinet Member �± Clean Streets, Recycling and Environment; 

�x Cabinet Member 



Birmingham City Council                                                
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3.32. The new management structure for 2017/18 is as per the following diagram:  

 
 
 

 
 
Financial Management Arrangements 

 
3.33. The role of the Chief Finance Officer (CFO)/Section 151 Officer : 

�x The CFO is a key member of the Corporate Leadership Team (CLT), helping it to 
�G�H�Y�H�O�R�S���D�Q�G���L�P�S�O�H�P�H�Q�W���V�W�U�D�W�H�J�\���D�Q�G���W�R���U�H�V�R�X�U�F�H���D�Q�G���G�H�O�L�Y�H�U���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V��
strategic objectives sustainably and in the public interest; 

�x The CFO is actively involved in, and able to bring influence to bear on, all 
material business decisions to ensure immediate and longer term implications, 
�R�S�S�R�U�W�X�Q�L�W�L�H�V���D�Q�G���U�L�V�N�V���D�U�H���I�X�O�O�\���F�R�Q�V�L�G�H�U�H�G�����D�Q�G���D�O�L�J�Q�P�H�Q�W���Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V��
financial strategy;  

�x The CFO leads the promotion and delivery of good financial management so that 
public money is safeguarded at all times and used appropriately, economically, 
efficiently and effectively; 

�x To deliver these responsibilities, the CFO leads and directs a finance function 
that is resourced to be fit for purpose; and is professionally qualified and suitably 
experienced. 

 
Scrutiny, Accountability and Risk Management  

 
3.34. The Overview & Scrutiny Committees cover all Cabinet Member portfolios and the 

Districts collectively.  All Executive decisions can be called in for Scrutiny to ensure 
that they are soundly based and consistent with Council policy.   
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3.39. Legal requirements and Council policy, together with guidance on their 

implementation, are set out in detail in the Policies, Standards, Procedures and 
�*�X�L�G�D�Q�F�H���G�D�W�D�E�D�V�H���K�H�O�G���R�Q���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���L�Q�W�U�D�Q�H�W���I�R�U���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O�����L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q��
communications technology and business procedures, and People Solutions for 
Human Resources policies and procedures.  Directorates maintain detailed 
delegations and guidance on specific legislative requirements which affect their 
service delivery. The Council has a strong Internal Audit function (Birmingham Audit) 
and well-�H�V�W�D�E�O�L�V�K�H�G���S�U�R�W�R�F�R�O�V���I�R�U���Z�R�U�N�L�Q�J���Z�L�W�K���H�[�W�H�U�Q�D�O���D�X�G�L�W�����7�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���H�[�W�H�U�Q�D�O��
auditors have responsibilities under the Code of Audit Practice to review compliance 
with policies, procedures, laws and regulations within their remit. 

 
 

Capacity and Capability 
 

3.40. The financial reductions facing the Council are impacting on workforce capacity. 
Having a flexible, skilled and mobile workforce will be critical to the Council effectively 
responding to increasing demand and reducing resources.  

 
3.41. The Council and BII�3���M�R�L�Q�W�O�\���F�R�P�P�L�V�V�L�R�Q�H�G���D�Q���L�Q�G�H�S�H�Q�G�H�Q�W���U�H�Y�L�H�Z���R�I���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V��

revenue 2017/18 budget proposals and long term financial plans. The review 
�F�R�Q�V�L�G�H�U�H�G���Z�K�H�W�K�H�U���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���S�U�R�S�R�V�D�O�V���I�R�U�������������������D�Q�G���O�R�Q�J�H�U���W�H�U�P���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O��
plans were credible and robust and con�V�L�G�H�U�H�G���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���D�E�L�O�L�W�\���W�R���G�H�O�L�Y�H�U���L�W�V��
financial plans. 

 
3.42. An initial review was undertaken with a follow up visit in January 2017.  The BIIP 

noted in the initial review that the Council had responded seriously to the financial 
challenge and had set about reassessing its financial bases to more realistic levels to 
address the financial gap.  A number of areas of the financial plans were ambitious 
and some areas of risk were identified. 

 
3.43. In the follow up visit, the BIIP concluded that the Council had responded well to the 

recommendations of the review team; that work was underway to review saving 
profiles of high-risk proposals where appropriate and the Council had established 
more robust governance arrangements to monitor the progress of the delivery of 
savings; the Council was reviewing its reserves strategy and giving consideration to a 
contingency plan; there was greater clarity and consistency in the delivery plans for 
main service areas and there had been a strengthening of capacity to support 
change corporately. 

 
3.44. �7�K�H���%�,�,�3���G�L�G���L�G�H�Q�W�L�I�\���V�R�P�H���U�L�V�N�V���R�Q���W�K�H���G�H�O�L�Y�H�U�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���R�I���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���S�O�D�Q�V��

including that the implementation of the FOM will require bold, focused, suitably 
experienced and tenacious managerial leadership; that contingency savings plans be 
prepared at a very early stage of development; for the Council to assess the impact 
�R�Q���F�R�U�S�R�U�D�W�H���F�D�S�D�F�L�W�\���W�R���W�U�D�Q�V�I�H�U���F�K�L�O�G�U�H�Q�¶�V���V�H�U�Y�L�F�H�V���W�R���D���&�K�L�O�G�U�H�Q�¶�V���7�U�X�V�W���D�Q�G���I�R�U���W�K�H��
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Council to review its approach with partners as current ways of working could inhibit 
the development and achievement of new ways of working.   

3.45. The Council has in place a strategy for facilitating the implementation of the savings 
proposals including managing significant workforce reductions through redundancy 
and potentially outsourcing. This includes an organisational design tool kit, training 
and online tools for managers along with a team of trained HR professionals to 
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rating for the Council and the Service Area. These are submitted to Members, 
Corporate Directors and service managers as appropriate. 

 
4.8. From the work undertaken by Birmingham Audit during 2016/17 and the outcomes 

from applying the model for formulating the end of year opinion the following 
�D�V�V�X�U�D�Q�F�H���Z�D�V���D�E�O�H���W�R���E�H���J�L�Y�H�Q�����³�,���D�P���D�E�O�H���W�R���S�U�R�Y�L�G�H���U�H�D�V�R�Q�D�E�O�H���D�V�V�X�U�D�Q�F�H���´  In this 
�F�R�Q�W�H�[�W���µ�U�H�D�V�R�Q�D�E�O�H���D�V�V�X�U�D�Q�F�H�¶���P�H�D�Q�V���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���V�\�V�W�H�P�V���F�D�Q���E�H���U�H�O�L�H�G���X�S�R�Q���W�R��
prevent error, fraud or misappropriation occurring without detection, and that nothing 
�Z�D�V���I�R�X�Q�G���W�K�D�W���Z�R�X�O�G���P�D�W�H�U�L�D�O�O�\���D�I�I�H�F�W���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���V�W�D�Q�G�L�Q�J���R�U���$�Q�Q�X�D�O���$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V�����$�V��
in any large organisation, Internal Audit did identify a number of concerns that 
required remedial action and these were reported to the appropriate Strategic / 







Birmingham City Council                                                Draft Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2017 
 
 

199 
 

Issue 
No 

Gover nance Issue  





Birmingham City Council                                                Draft Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2017 
 
 

201 
 

Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts  
 
�7�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���5�H�V�Sonsibilities  
 
The Council is required to: 
 

�x make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure 
that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In 
Birmingham City Council this is the Chief Finance Officer who also has the role of 
Section 151 officer; 
 

�x manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and 
safeguard its assets; 
 

�x approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The �6�H�F�W�L�R�Q�����������2�I�I�L�F�H�U�¶�V Responsibilities  
 
The Section 151 Officer �L�V���U�H�V�S�R�Q�V�L�E�O�H���I�R�U���W�K�H���S�U�H�S�D�U�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���W�K�H���&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�¶�V���6�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W���R�I��
Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code). In preparing this 
Statement of Accounts, the Section 151 Officer has: 
 

�x selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently; 
 

�x made judgments and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; 
 

�x complied with the Code. 
 
The Section 151 Officer has also: 
 

�x kept proper accounting records which are up to date; 
 

�x taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. 

 
Certification of Accounts  
 
I certify that the Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view of the financial position 
of Birmingham City Council at 31 March 2017 and its income and expenditure for the year 
ended 31 March 2017. 
 
 
 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
�0�L�N�H���2�¶�'�R�Q�Q�H�O�O, 





Birmingham City Council                                                Draft Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2017 
 
 

203 
 

financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital 
(that is borrowing) to the Council. 
 
CIPFA/SOLACE Framework  
The CIPFA/SOLACE Framework helps local authorities to develop and maintain their own 
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in return for past or future compliance with certain conditions relating to the activities of that 
local authority. 
 
Heritage Assets  
Assets that the council intends to hold for the purpose of informing or educating the public 
about their heritage, and which are not held for their investment value. Examples include 
collections of antiques in museums. 
 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA)  
A separate account detailing the expenditure and income arising from the provision of 
council housing. 
 
Impairment  
A diminution in value of a fixed asset resulting from, for example, obsolescence or physical 
damage. To comply with accounting standards the Council undertakes annual reviews of its 
assets to identify any assets which have been impaired. 
 
Infrastructure Assets  
These are inalienable assets, the value o
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Materiality  
An item is material if its omission, non-disclosure or mis-statement in the financial 
statements could be expected to lead to a distortion of the view given by the financial 
statements. 
 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)  
Minimum Revenue Provision is a charge to the revenue account in relation to capital 
expenditure financed from borrowing or credit arrangements.  The Council is required by law 
to make an annual determination of MRP that it considers to be prudent. 
 
Movement in Reserves Statement ( MiRS) 
This Statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the 
�&�R�X�Q�F�L�O�����D�Q�D�O�\�V�H�G���L�Q�W�R���µ�X�V�D�E�O�H���U�H�V�H�U�Y�H�V�¶�����W�K�D�W���L�V�����W�K�R�V�H���W�K�D�W���F�D�Q���E�H���D�S�S�O�L�H�G���W�R���I�X�Q�G��
expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other reserves.  
 
Net Book Value  
The amount at which non-current assets are included in the balance sheet, i.e. their 
historical cost or current value less the cumulative amounts provided for depreciation. 
 
Operating Lease  
A lease other than a finance lease. 
 
Operational Assets  
Non-current assets held, occupied, used o181.46 79f

15 Tm

[(-)] TJ

ET

BT

1 0 0 1 95.9182.18 5n lease.



Birmingham City Council                                                



Birmingham City Council                                                Draft Accounts for the Year Ended 31 March 2017 
 


